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|(0RPORATE PROF' LE OPNET Technologies, Inc. is a leading provider of solutions for managing networks and
| applications. Qur solutions address application performance management; network

. planning, engineering, and operations; and network R&D.

Wiail Procéssing Organizations rely on networks and enterprise software applications to successfully execute their
Section strategies. As the dependency on networked applications has grown, so have demands for high
. performance and availability. At the same time, the size and complexity of the IT infrastructure
At Al has increased cormrnensurately. This complexity is compounded by government regulations and
commercial industry standards that require demonstrably improved management processes.
eorington, DG Due to ali of these factors, businesses and government entities confront significant challenges
o, related to the cost, risk, and performance of IT.

Traditional application and network management solutions focus on data collection and
monitoring. These solutions typically report on historical trends and status of networks or
systems. While this information can be useful in managing IT assets and in identifying certain
performance problems, it is frequently insufficient to point to the actual cause of these
problems. OPNET differentiates itself from other management solutions by focusing on
deep data coliection and advanced analytics. OPNET solutions collect highly detailed data,
and pravide expert analysis that dramatically accelerates problem resolution and also
permits problem prevention.

Continuing its tradition as a leading technology innovator, OPNET is extending the
state of the art in Application Performance Management by developing solutions that
provide an "end-to-end” perspective. For the first time, a single vendor is providing deep analysis
of application performance fiom the network perspective, as well as the end-system (e.q,, server
or client) perspective. Integrated views of application performance from these simultaneous
perspectives provides significantly improved ability to solve
performance problems and to coordinate troubleshooting across
different “silos"in the IT organization,

OPNET's software solutions generate return on investrent for a broad
customer base, including corporate and government enterprises,
defense agencies and contractors, network service providers, and
network equipment manufacturers. These organizations rely on OPNET software to
improve operational effectiveness, accelerate the deployment of strategic applications
and services, reduce IT operating and capital costs, manage risk associated with growth
and change, and increase productivity—all with better performance.

This Annual Report contains forward-iocking statements that invilve substantial fisks and uncertainties. You ¢an identify 1hese siatements
by forward-looking woras such as “znticpate’; believe Toukd estimateexpect.intend,” may "plan "potentlal shouid! "will; and ‘would”
or simidar words. You should read statements that contain these words carefully because they discuss our future expeciations, contain
projections of our future results of operations or of out financial position, or stare osher forward-oo¥ing information. We believe that it is
imporiant 1o communicale cut luture expectations to our Investors, However, thers may be events in the futyra that we are nor abie to predict
accurately or control. The factors listed In our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Comrmission en June 6, 2008
uncer "Rlsk Factorsas well 25 any caulionary language i this Anntal Repart, provide esamples of risks, uncertaingies, and events that may cause
our actual tesults to difer materially frem the e-pectations we descnba in our forward-looking statemenss, You should aiso carefully review the
risks outlined in other decuments that we file fiom time to time with the Securitles and Exchange Commission, including our Guartsrly Reports
on Form 10-0 that we will file in fiscat 2009.

The forward-locking statements prowided in this Annual Report represent our sxpectations as of July 21, 2008. We anilcipate that subsequent
events and developments will cause our expectations to change. However, while we may elect to update this forward-iooking informaiuon at
some point in the futute, we specifically disclaim any cbligation to do so. This farward-ooking information snousd not be telied upon as
representing our e« pectatlons as ol any date subsequent to July 21, 2008.
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CORPORATE
HIGHLIGHTS

Annual Revenue
{in Thousands)
$95,130 $101,346

$76,115

$64,243

2005 2006 2007 2008

Annual Diluted Earnings per share
$0.38

_%0.10 50.10

2006 2007 2008

Fiscal Operating Margins
Fiscal Year 2008

0.8%

-0.3% = -9.0% -4.5%

Q3 Q4

Fiscal 2008 Diluted Earnings per Share
Fiscal Year 2008
50.06

$(0.06) 5 {0.00)
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OPNET Acquires Technology and Certain Assets from Network Physics,
Introduces ACE Live

In a move termed “a master stroke” by noted industry analyst Dennis Drogseth, OPNET acquired
technology and certain assets from Network Physics, Inc., a technology feader in the competitive
and fast-growing market for network and application performance monitoring products.

The October 2007 transaction followed the announcement in September of plans to introduce
ACE Live early in 2008, a new solution for end-user experience monitoring. OPNET leveraged the
Network Physics investment 1o bring ACE Live to
market in 2007, delivering a strategic new offering in its
Application Performance Management portfolio.

OPNET Establishes Asia Subsidiary

OPNET Technologies Asia Pte. Ltd. was launched, headquartered in Singapore, and with direct
sales and support respensibility for the Asia-Pacific region. Additional consultants are located in
Beijing, Hong Keng, Bangalore, and New Delhi.

OPNET Launches SYNERGY Program
A new channel program designed to increase the penetration of OPNET solutions among mid-
size IT enterprises was launched in fiscal year 2008. The SYNERGY program enlists a broad range

of sales and services organizations with initial focus ¢n
OPNET's ACE Live solution. SYNERGY _*'
"~ Partner

OPNET Certified as an Approved Scanning Vendor (ASV)
for the Payment Card Industry (PCl}

OPNET was certified as an Approved Scanning Yendor (ASV) by the Payment Card Industry (PCh
Security Standards Council. The PCI Data Security Standard (DSS), endorsed by American
Express, Discover Financial Services, JCB, MasierCard Worldwide and Visa Inc., reguires merchants
and service providers that store, process or transmit customer payment card data to adopt
information security controls and processes to ensure data integrity. Participating payment
brands require PCI DSS compliance reports by a certified third-party assessor for on site audits of
merchants and service providers that process payment card transactions.

As an ASV, OPNET is abte to help merchants manage data security risks, evaluate the security of
their systems that store payment account data and assist them in achieving compliance with the
PCI DSS. OPNET achieved approved status by undergoing rigorous testing on the Council’s
infrastructure, which simulates the network of a typical security scan customer. Only vendors
approved by the PCl Security Standards Council are qualified to perform scanning assessments.

OPNET Awarded $75M Contract by the U.S. Navy

Wholly owned subsidiary, OPNET Analysis, Inc., was awarded an Indefinite
Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) contract by the U.S. Navy's Space and
Naval Warfare Systerns Center (SPAWARSYS-SC) in Charleston, SC for OPNET
sofiware products and services.

The contract includes one base year valued at 513,957,702, and four one-year option periods
that, if exercised, will bring the total cumulative value of the contract to the estimated amount of
$75,000,000.

SPAWARSYS-SC conducts a variety of initiatives for Joint, Navy, Army, Air Force, and other Federal
interoperability programs. The contract will provide a rapid ordering vehicle for OPNET's entire
produci line, including software licenses and upgrades, technical support, censulting services,
and customization work.
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Dear Shareholders

From Products to Solutions

QPNET has grown from a company with a handful of preducts when it went public in August
2000, 10 a leading provider of analytics solutions that span application performance
management; network planning, engineering, and operations; and network R&D. During this
timeframe, our revenue increased more than fivefold, and we successfully integrated four
technology acquisitions to broaden our solution suite and markets.

We focus on developing and bringing to market software sclutions based on analytics. These
analytics allow our customers to troubleshoot problems faster, proactively prevent performance
and security probtems, unify and visualize performance data frorn complex IT environments in
real-time, and effectively plan and optimize IT resources 1o meet specific service levels, In fiscal
2008, we completed a significant acquisition of technology and certain assets from Network
Physics, Inc. that makes OPNET a major player in the fast-growing space of application
performance monitoring.

In fiscal 2008, revenue was $101.3 million, representing an increase of 6,.5% over the prior year,

In fiscal 2008 we also increased deferred revenue by 30.8% to $30.5 million, increased cash flow
from operations by 108% to $12.9 million, maintained a strong balance sheet with no debt, and
invested 27.1% of our total revenue into research and development. While our operating margin
decreased to negative 3.4% from positive 8.2% the prior fiscal year, we believe OPNET is well
positioned to grow revenues and profitability.

Building a Strong Foundation

In fiscal 2008, OPNET made significant investmenits to expand its presence and exploit
oppoertunities in the Enterprise IT market. A key element in this sirategic direction was the
Network Physics technology asset acquisition, ptacing OPNET in a unique position to deliver "End-
to-End Application Performance Management.” The acquired Network Physics technelogy
accelerated the release of our ACE Live™ solution, a network-based appliance that provides
application performance monitoring, alerting, and triage across all transactions observed on the
network, ACE Live is complemented by OPNET's ACE™ Analyst solution, which provides deep
root-cause analysis for individual transactions. And, finally, OPNET's Panorama™ solution performs
maonitoring, alerting, and troubleshooting on the servers that make up an application's
infrastructure. The ability to perform these functions from both the network perspective and the
server perspective responds to a key need in the industry to solve application performance
problems in a more comprehensive manner, This approach also allows network, server, and
application tearns to work more closely together to solve problems faster,

From a commercial perspective, OPNET's "End-to-End" approach not only offers a new technical
advantage to the indusiry, but allows us to position ourselves as a key vendor across [T divisions.
This, in turn, enables us to provide *baskets of solutions™ in enterprise deals, which leads 1o overall
larger transactions. In fiscal 2008, we began 10 see this strategy deliver results with significantly
greater enterprise business, and also larger deal sizes in enterprise accounts.

QPNET aiso continues to advance the state of the art with its Network Planning, Engineering and
Operations solutions, sold to all of its market segments. In this space, as welt as the Network R&D
space where OPNET had its beginnings, OPNET centinues to be the technological and market
share leader.

None of this would have been possible without the dedication and hard work of our staff and
their successful track record of continuous innovation. In the last year, we filed 37 patent
applications, further building on our base of intellectual property and extending barriers to entry.

In summary, fiscal 2008 was a year of significant accomplishments for OPNET. We believe that we
are uniguely positioned to be a leading, global provider of analytics in a market where growth is
driven by increasing infrastructure complexity, tighter performance demands, stricter regulations,
and new security threats.

We would like to thank our staff, customers, and shareholders for their commitment to our
solutions and belief in our vision.

. 4 ] .
Marc A.Cohen Alain J. Cohen
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Techinology Officer
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Solution Portfolio:

APPLICATION
PERFORMANCE
MANAGEMENT
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The end-to-end performance of networked applications depends on complex
interactions among application software, server environments, and networks. Effective
application performance management requires a holistic view that encompasses these
multiple perspectives. Application performance management is needed throughout the
application lifecycle, beginning with development and QA, and continuing through
deployment and operations. A comprehensive strategy requires analytics that enable
both rapid troubleshooting and proactive prevention of problems,

> Realize faster, more successful application deployments.

> Predict the impact of deployments on the existing network and applications.

> Monitor and alert on all transactions in a production environment. When problems occur,
perform triage among network and server components to indicate where to investigate.

» Quickly find the root cause of performance problems, on the network, or within the server.

> Manage the convergence and contention of voice and data on the same network.

» Troubleshoot problems in complex environments involving WAN acceleration devices.

> Assess whether a server is a good candidate for virtualization, and determine capacity
required for the host and virtual machines to meet performance objectives.

OPNET's Application Performance Management (APM) solutions ensure that applications will
periorm effectively in production, that systerns have adequate capacity to support them, and
that networks that deliver application functionality can meet service level objectives. OPNET's
solutions provide an end-to-end approach to application performance management.

ACE Live™ is an appliance-based solution that
spans monitoring, measurement, and detection of
application performance violations. it provides
complete visibility of all transactions and users across
the enterprise, with detailed real-time and historical
information about end-user response times,
utilization, route quality. ISP performance, and traffic
patterns. On-board analytics break down application
response time, identifying which parts of the
infrastructure are contributing most to delays. Datais
automatically summarized according 1o applications
and user-defined business groups (e.g, departments,
campuses, e}, so that resuits are presented in a way
that is meaningful to the business.

ACE™ Analyst provides effective performance
managerment throughout the application life cycle.
ACE Analyst embeds expert knowledge about how
applications, servers, and networks interact,
providing a comprehensive understanding of the

end-to-end performance of networked applications.

{15 powerful, intwitive analysis environment enables
application pre-deployment certification, validates
planned changes, and accelerates troubleshooting
performance problems in production applications.
The combination of ACE Live and ACE Analyst
enables T crganizations 1o detect performance
issues, perform triage across all transactions, and
pinpeint and remedy specific issues before they
severely affect business operations.

OPNET Panorama™ delivers comprehensive
performance management for critical applications
throughout the application lifecycle. Panorama can
provide valuable analysis for any type of application,
but excels in particular in Java or NET environments.
it continucusly monitors thousands of system and
application metrics within each server, across ali
application tiers, and automatically spots
performance anomalies. Panorama uses unique
technology 1o provide deep instrumeniation with
very low overhead on the host system, Its unigue
correlation technology automatically detects patterns
in metrics and events, identifying cause-and-effect
relationships and pinpeinting symptoms that might
otherwise go undetected. Pancrama provides deep
visibility into application code, enabling root-cause
analysis and rapid problem remediztion.

IT Guru® Systems Planner enables capacity
planning for servers and mainframes. It analyzes
system configurations and workloads, and predicts
the impact of new application deployments,
changes in workload profiles, and growth in the
number of users. IT Guru Systems Planner
automates performance planning to predict how
utilization, transaction rates, and hardware
configurations will affect response gme. It presents
server virtualization scenarios, assesses capacity of
host systems for guest machines, and predicts the
capacity required to achieve SLAs.
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Solution Portfolio:

NETWORK PLANNING,
ENGINEERING,
& OPERATIONS
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Network planners and engineers who manage complex and constantty changing
networks are responsible for the infrastructure that supports business-critical services
and applications. Qur customers rely on our selutions to ensure high performance and
availability.

> Optimize network performance through traffic engineering and capacity “right-sizing.”

> Ensure network survivability, predicting the impact of failing nodes, links, or resource groups.
> Validate network configuration changes prior to deployment.

> Increase security and operational integrity with scheduted network audits,

> Accelerate new service deployments, technology migrations, and network consolidations.

> Unify disparate views of the network and its components across tools that operate in "silos”

> Better understand and visualize the state of the production network and proactively

detect and resolve operational issues.

IT Sentinel®* and SP Sentinel® ensure network
integrity, compliance, and security for enterprises
angd service providers. Sentinel performs automated,
sysiematic, network-wide configuration audits of the
production network, identifying errors and mis-
configurations that can impact network availability,
performance, and secusity. Sentinel detects
unexposed problems, and proactively notifies staff of
critical errors, Proactive change validation assesses
configuration changes prior to their deployment into
the production network.

IT Netcop™ and SP Netcop™ provide a unified,
graphical visualization of large, heterogeneous
production networks, including devices, their
connectivity and status, and five traffic. Netcop
unifies data from a wide range of network
management systems, providing consolidated
views for more intuitive and productive navigation
and analysis. Netcop's geographical network
dashboard is dynamically updated with real-
tire operational information. Third party tools
and programmed scripts can be launched
from its console for deeper
drill-down and assisted
troubleshooting.

IT Guru® Network Planner automates analysis
and planning of mukti-tayer, multi-vendor netwarks.
Organizations can accuraiely plan for growth,
consolidation, technology migration, and new
application deployments, including Voice-Over-IP
(VolIP), Virtual Private Networks (VPNs), and (Pvé.
Exclusive OPNET algorithms automatically suggest
optimizations for the netwark, in terms of capacity
and configuration, to meet traffic growth
projections, and achieve perforrmance and
survivability.

SP Guru® Network Planner provides additional
network planning and design capabilities to meet
the unique requirements of network service
providers, enabling them to acceferate new service
deployment and maximize return on network
investments. SP Guru Network Planner autematically
performs traffic engineering for MultiProtocol Label
Switching (MPLS) networks, and optimizes Quality of
Service (QoS) for offerings such as Vo!P.

SP Guru® Transport Planner enabies service
previders and network equipment manufacturers to
design resilient, cost effective optical and SONET
networks. It performs "what if* analyses for a wide
variety of transport network architectures,
technologies, and design scenarios, featuring
unigue multi-tayer network presentation and
optimization and design capabilities,
5P Guru Transport Planner integrates
with SP Guru Network Planner 1o
optimize capacity and survivability
across the optical transport and packet
fayer networks, including P, and MPLS.




| A I DTN TTTT N AS LT %

R B2

e N

Solution Portfolio;

NETWORK R&D
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Network R&D organizations rely on OPNET software to boost productivity, improve
product performance and quality, and accelerate time-to-market for fixed and wireless
communication technologies.

> Optimize proprietary wireless protocols and technologies.
> Test and demonstrate technology designs in realistic scenarios before production.

» Increase network R&D productivity and accelerate time-to-market.

OPNET Modeler® accelerates the R&D process for
analyzing and designing communication netwarks,
devices, protocols, and applications, Users can analyze
simulated networks 1o compare the impact of different
technology designs on end-to-end behavior. Modeler
incorporates a broad suite of protocols and
technologies, and includes a development environment
10 enable modeling of all network types and
technologies.

Modeler Wireless Suite provides high fidelity
modeling, simulation, and analysis of a broad range of
wireless networks. Technology developers leverage
advanced simulation capakilities and rich protocol
model suites to design and optimize proprietary
wireless protocols, such as access control and
scheduling algerithms, Simulations incorporate motion
in mobile networks, including ground, airborne, and
satellite systems. Modeler Wireless Suite supports any
network with mobile devices, including cellular, mobile
ad hot networks, wireless LAN, and satellite.

Modeler Wireless Suite for Defense supports the
unigue RRD requirernents of the defense community,
including research and development of network
protocols and architectures crucial to Network-Centric
Warfare implementations. Three-dimensional displays of
network simulations incorporate topology, node
relationships, and performance statistics, overlaid on a
realistically rendered terrain, Modeler Wireless Suite for
Defense enables analysis and prediction of
communications effects in the theater of operations.
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Case Studies

T-Mobile Standardizes
| Network Design and
- Operations Activities
with OPNET
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T-Mobile is the Jeading mobile phone operator in Germany with more than 37 million
subscribers as of March 31, 2008. Headquartered in Bonn, Germany, T-Mobile generated
€8 billion in revenues in 2007, T-Mobile continuously invests in modernizing its network,
with a focus on superior network experience, and deploying state-of-the-art
technologies for high-speed mobile data transmission (GPRS, EDGE, W-LAN, UMTS, and
HSDPA).

The IP Design Authorization Group at T-Mobile is responsible for making design
recommendations 1o guarantee the correct operation of multiple networks across the
organization. To support these activities they undericok the strategic initiative to implement a
standardized toolset across the company, based on OPNET SP Sentinel and SP Guru Network
Planner.

SP Sentinel is deployed in a hierarchical configuration to collect data from different networks
and audit these networks against mis-configurations, security gaps, and violations of
organizational policies. Based on the detailed recommendations provided by SP Sentinel, T-
Mobile identified and modified several erroneous configurations that went previously unnoticed
and could have resulted in service disruption.

Leveraging the network and traffic data collected by SP Sentinel, T-Mobile uses SP Guru Network
Pianner to guarantee end-to-end connectivity and service delivery across multiple service areas
and undertake survivability analysis to ensure that services remain operational in case of
equipment failures. SP Guru Network Planner is used also 1o simulate the impact of new services
and traffic growth on the backbone network and make timely recommendations to perform
capacity upgrades before service performance is impacted.

OPNET is a st:ategic partner for T-Mobile’s network design and operations activities. Using SP ‘
Sentinel and SP Guru Network Planner, T-Mobile gained an unprecedented level of end-to-end |
visibility and understanding of the network, allowing the Company to make better-justified ' |
network design recommendations and significantly reduce network configuration errors and

resulting down-time.

Dr. Jorg Hagemann
Head of Technical Design Autherity IP Networks
T-Mobile Germany
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Case Studies

General Dynamics UK
Selects OPNET Modeler®
to Model Communications
Effacts in HLA Federation

OPNET Technologies, Inc. 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

General Dynamics UK Limited (GDUK} is a leading prime contractor and complex systems
integrator working in partnership with the UK's Ministry of Defence and the defense
departments of other countries. GDUK is part of General Dynamics Corporation, one of
the top six defense companies in the world.

Traditionat war gaming simulators do a good job of accounting for battlefield strategy. However,
they make simple assumptions about communication conditions, and the availability of
communications can significantly change the outcome of a battle. GDUK has addressed ihis
challenge by integrating BLaDE, their specialized force-on-force simulator, with OPNET Modeler.
Modeler simulates communications effects including protocel behavior, interference, terrain
masking, and jamming. GDUK is now able to implement realistic battlefield communications in
support of networked defense projects.

"We have optimized our war game simulations by integrating BLaDE with
OPNET Modeler’s high-fidelity communications effects simulation. We can now
represent the reality of battlefield communications in our defense project
simulations, enabling us to better support our customers”

Andy Cullington

Technology Manager {Simulation and Modeling)
Mission Systers

General Dynamics UK Limited

Salt River Project (SRP) provides electricity to more than 2 million people in a 2,900-
square-mile area in Central Arizona, an area known as the “Valley. Founded in 1903, SRP
is an integrated electric utility, providing generation, transmission and distribution
services. SRP is also the largest water supplier to the greater Phoenix metropolitan area,
with a water service area that spans 375 square miles. In addition, SRP manages the
13,000-square-mile watershed that supplies a majority of that area’s surface water.

SRP needed a network configuration auditing solution to ensure configuration correctness and
policy compiiance. IT Sentinel was selected because it provides automated auditing that
leverages extensive rules suites with more than 650 out-of-the-box checks. The returm on
investment was realized immediately when [T Sentinel diagnosed a mis-configuration during the
third week of implementation. A duplicate IP address was detected that was causing routing
loops, impacting network performance. Sentinel rapidly pinpointed the specific configuration
error so that it could be quickly corrected and the problem resclved.

SRP has implemented a process whereby they audit their 400-node network daily to assess
configuration correctness, network differences, and compliance with the Payment Card Industry
Data Security Standard (PC! DSS).

*IT Sentinel takes the manual labor out of running a network audit. It
automates the whole process of configuration collection, analysis, and
reporting. The reports are created like clockwork every night and they
identify a wide array of potential configuration issues that would be virtually
impossible to identify manually.

Shanon Jones
Senior Network Analyst
Sait River Project
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Case Studies

(oty |n(. |mp|ements Through acquisition and licensing partnerships, Coty, Inc. has achieved a leadership
s m . position in fragrance and has quickly emerged as a global teader in the world of beauty.
ACE Live . for.a Strateglc Today, Coty is the world'’s largest fragrance company with offices in more than 30
|T c0n50|ldatlon Eff()ft countries and a strong presence in 91 markets. Coty successfully brings to market its
brands faster, further, and freer than most other beauty companies.

Coty has over 60 sites around the world that include a mix of research and development,
manufacturing, distribution, and sales officas. Earlier this year, the IT team was focused on a new
initiative to create a centralized repository for videcs and graphics to be used by the company’s
internal portal. The team knew that the consolidaticon effort would pose a challenge 1o
maintaining effective network bandwidth utilization and would especially affect their giobal
users' respense time to business critical applications, such as SAP and Cracle.

Coty purchased OPNET's ACE Live for real-time visibility into end-user response time te assist in
the T consolidation effort. ACE Live enables the team at Coty to focus on strategic business
initiatives and has been instrumental in diagnosing performance problems in real-time, before
the end-user is affected. Coty has also implemented ACE Analyst for deep troubleshooting and
plans to use its integration with ACE Live to seamlessly monitor and troubleshoot application
performance issues. ’

“As the global network manager, | didn't want to spend my time
analyzing network traffic; ACE Live does the work for us and puts our
team at ease 5o we can focus on planning strategic IT projects that
impact our business”

Steve Kamvissis

Global Network Manager
Coty, inc.
vod afone Italia Vodafom? Ita.lla is part of the Vo‘daf?ne Group, tlhe wc.;rld s leading |nternat|.onzf! mobile
s s . communications group, operating in 25 countries, with network partnerships in another
OPt"mzes Trafflc 42 countries. Vodafone Italia has more than 30 million customers and over 7 million 3G

Engineering with OPNET ‘s devices as of March 2008. Revenues for the year ended March 31, 2008 totaled €8,159
million.
SP Guru Network Planner®

The Traffic Engineering team at Vodafone Italia provides network traffic analysis for the 1P-based
converged services network, and ensures that the network is engineered correctly to guarantee
optimal performance of supported services. They are charged with making recommendations for
changes and upgrades to support new network services, traffic growth, and network expansion.

Vodafone Italia leverages SP Guru Network Planner to predict the impact on utilization and
performance of a wide range of network services. The detailed and up-to-date network model in
SP Guru Network Planner enabtes accurate trending to predict future network performance and
potential bottlenecks for different service growth scenarios. Vodafone talia also employs SP Guru
Network Planner’s exclusive design capabilities 1o optimize network capacity and quality of service
for planned network expansions and new service deployments, such as Voice-Over-1P (VolP).

“SP Guru Network Planner helped us implement the most reliable and accurate
solution for optimizing our traffic engineering processes, We now make better-
justified recommendations for network changes and upgrades by producing
precise predictive results that optimize network performance, thus reducing risk
and avoiding unnecessary investments.”

Lucia Levi
Traffic Engineer, Network Engineering Department
Vodafone ltalia
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SELECTED CONSOUDATED HNANCIAL DATA {dollars and share amounts in thousands, except per share data)

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The state-
ment of operations data for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and the balance sheet data as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, are derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Repart. The balance sheet data as of March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and
the statement of operations data for the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from our consolidated financial statements that are not
included in this Annual Report. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for any future period.

Year Ended March 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA: {in thousands, except per share data)
Revenue:
New software licenses - $738,838 $ 43,186 $ 31,976 § 29507 $ 28164
Software license updates, technical support and services 34,787 28,062 24,226 19,805 15,152
Professional services ’ ’ 22, 23882 19,913 14931 13,137
Total revenue 101,346 95,130 76,115 64,243 56,453
Cost of revenue:
New software licenses - 1,035 638 657 778 B-EY
Software license updates, technical support and services ) 4514 3,264 2,637 2,348 1,730
Professional services o © 19,154 15904 13,705 10,154 7,510
Amortization of acquired technology 1,486 723 832 - 651 509
Total cost of revenue 26,189 20,529 17,831 13,931 10,580
Gross profit- 75,157 74,601 58,284 50,312 45,873
Operating expenses:
Research and development Y7V 21,688 18643 - 15455 13,040
Salesand marketing 39,357 32,133 26,300 22,803 19,446
General and administrative 11,747 10994 13,375 9,742 ‘5,71 7
Total operating expenses 78,575 66,815 58,318 48,000 38,203
(Loss) income from operations (3.418) 7,786 (34) 2,312 7,670
Interest and other income, net - C 3579 383 2680 1384 5%
income before (benefit) provision for income taxes 167 11,620 2,646 3,696 8,264
(Benefit) provision for income taxes (372) 3,655 ' 509 1,644 2,506
Net income $ 533 $ 7,965 $ 2137 $ 2,052 $5,758
Basic net income per common share $ 003 $ 039 $ 010 $ 0.0 $ 029
Diluted net income per common share o - $ 0.03 $ 038 $ 030§ o010 '$ 028
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 20,342 20,358 20,374 20,158 19,697
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 20,621 21,206 20,604 20,624 20,650
Balance Sheet Data (end of period):
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term and
long-term marketable securities $ 85829 $ 91,381 $ 85861 $ 82,185 $ B1,493
Total assets 153,538 147,658 127,347 125185 116,682
Long-term debt : — — 103 150 " 300
Total stockholders'equity 110645 112,871 99,398 99,965 96,371
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION ANDRESULTS OF OPERATIONS

{doliars and share amounts in thousands, except per shore data)

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes includ-
ed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and
analysis contains forward-fooking statements that involve risks, uncer-
tainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of cer-
tain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “ltem 1A,
Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

OPNET Technologies, Inc. is a provider of software products and related
services for managing networks and applications. Qur software products
and related services address: application performance management,
network operations, capacity management, and network research and
development. Our customers include corporate enterprises, government
and defense agencies, network service providers, and network equip-
ment manufacturers. Our software products and related services are
designed to help our customers make better use of resources, reduce
operational problems and improve competitiveness.

We operate in one reportabte industry segment, the development and
sale of computer software programs and related services, Our operations
are principally in the United States, and we have subsidiaries in Australia,
Belgium, France, Germany, the United Kingdom and Singapore. The
wholly-owned subsidiary in Singapore was registered in August 2007. We
primarily depend upon our direct sales force to generate revenue in the
United States. Sales outside the United States are made through our
international sales team as well as third-party distributors and value-
added resellers, who generally are responsible for providing technical
support and service to customers within their territory.

Our revenue is derived from three primary sources: (1) new software
licenses, (2} software license updates, technical support and services, and
{3) professional services, which include consulting and training services
for custorners without current maintenance agreements. New software
license revenue represents all fees earned from granting custemers
licenses to use our software and fees associated with hardware necessary
to run our software, and excludes revenue derived from software
license updates, which are included in software license updates, techni-
cal support, and services revenue. Qur software master license agree-
ment provides our customers with the right to use our software either
perpetually, which we refer to as perpetual licenses, or during a defined
term, generally for one to four years, which we refer to as term licenses.
For the twelve months ended March 31, 2008, perpetual licenses repre-
sented approximately 97% of software license revenue. Substantially all
of our software license arrangements include both perpetual and/or
term licenses and software license updates, technical support, and serv-
ices. Software license updates, technical support, and services revenue
represent fees associated with the sale of unspecified license updates,
technical support and when-and-if available training under our mainte-
nance agreements. We offer professional services, under both time-and-
material and fixed-price agreements, primarily to facilitate the adopticn
of our software products.

We consider our consulting services to be an integral part of our business
model as they are centered on our software product offerings. Because

-

our consulting services facilitate the adoption of our software product
offerings, we believe that they ultimately generate additional sales of
software licenses.

The key strategies of our business plan include increasing sales to exist-
ing customers, increasing deal size by selling modules and introducing
new software products, improving our sales and marketing execution,
establishing alliances to extend our market reach, increasing our interna-
tional presence and increasing profitability. We have focused our sales,
marketing, and other efforts on corporate enterprise and United States
government opportunities, and to a much lesser extent, service provider
and network equipment manufacturer opportunities. Qur focus and
strategies are designed to increase revenue and profitability. Because of
the uncertainty surrounding the amount and timing of revenue growth,
we expect to need to closely control the increases in our total expenses
as we implerment these strategies.

In March 2008, we launched an initiative to extend our market reach by
establishing sates alliances with third parties called the Synergy program.
The Synergy program is designed to increase the penetration of our soft-
ware products into mid-sized organizations. The Synergy program’s ini-
tial focus will be on selling our application performance management
software products, including ACE Live that provides end-user experience
monitoring and real-time application performance analytics, as we
believe these software products are particularly well-suited for channel
distribution.

In March 2008, we restructured our worldwide distribution agreement
with Cisco Systems, or Cisco. Under the terms of the restructured agree-
meng, Cisco will distribute our software products as OPNET-branded soft-
ware products.

In April 2007, we entered into a multi-year worldwide distribution agree-
ment with Computer Associates that built upon the referral agreement
entered into with Computer Associates in November of 2005. Under the
terms of the agreement, Computer Associates is distributing our IT Guru
Systems Plahner Solution as a CA-branded solution and we are collaborat-
ing with Computer Associates to offer professional services and support.

In November 2005, we entered into a global sales and marketing refer-
ral agreement with Computer Associates. Under the terms of the agree-
ment, Computer Associates began marketing our systems performance
and capacity modeling technologies as OPNET-branded software prod-
ucts. Computer Associates began sales of our products under this agree-
ment in the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

Acqeisition of Specified Assets of Network Physics

On October 19, 2007, we completed the acquisition of specified assets of
Network Physics for a total purchase price of $10,005. We paid the pur-
chase price in cash from working capital. As a result of the acquisition, we
acquired technology that enabled us to accelerate the release of our ACE
Live software product, which had been in development since the sum-
mer of 2006 and were under development to address the appliance-
based end user monitoring market. In addition to the technalogy
acquired from Network Physics, we also acquired several non-executive
employees to provide us with greater engineering depth and technical
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expertise. We did not acquire Network Physics’ value-added reselier
agreements or associated relationships, which generated substantially alf
of their revenue.

The purchase of specified assets of Network Physics did not constitute
the purchase of a business for purposes of SEC reporting or for purpos-
es of financial reporting under SFAS 141, *Business Combinations” or EfTF
No. 98-3, “Determining Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction Involves
Receipt of Productive Assets or of a Business”. Most key attributes of
Network Physics necessary for continuity of operations did not remain
with the acquired assets after the acquisition including a portion of the
non-executive employee base, executive employees, market distribution
systems and customer maintenance contracts. Furthermore, the trans-
ferred set of Network Physics activities could not sustain normal opera-
tions for the purpose of providing a return to investors.

- Summary of Qur Fiscal 2008 Financial Performance

Management believes that financial information related to Network
Physics prior to the acquisition would not be material or relevant to an
understanding of our operations subsequent to the asset acquisition for
several key reasons. First, value-added resellers used by Network Physics
to market and distribute their products to customers and generate sub-
stantially all of their revenue were not acquired. Second, significant
changes were made to the purchased technology in order to distribute
the technology to our customers. Third, cur decision to purchase speci-
fied assets of Network Physics was based on the end-user appliance
based market opportunity that we believe exists and the complementa-
ry nature of olr existing performance management software products to
the end-user appliance based market and was not based on the nature
and amount of revenue historically generated by Network Physics.
Finally, we did not acquire the rights to any continuing revenue stream
including customer maintenance contracts.

Ouring fiscal 2008, our income from operations and net income decreased as compared to fiscal 2007. The decrease in profitability was primarily the
result of an increase in total operating expenses and a decrease in license revenue, which have higher gross margins than our other sources of revenue.
The increase in operating expenses was largely the result of increased personnel costs and costs related to acquiring technology necessary to pursue
our growth strategies. The decrease in license revenue was predominantly the result of a decrease in license sales to United States and international

government customers,

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balance as of March 31, 2008 decreased as compared to March 31, 2007 largely due to the acqui-
sition of specified assets of Network Physics for a total cash purchase price of $10,005. Qur deferred revenue as of March 31, 2008 increased as com-
pared to March 31, 2007, largely due to an increase in sales of software license updates, technical support and services arrangements.

The following table summarizes information on some of our key financial and operating metrics.

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 Amount Change Percentage Change

OPERATIONS DATA: (datiars in thousands, except per share data)
Total revenue 5101,346 $ 95,130 5 6216 6.5%
Total cost of sales $ 26,189 $ 20,529 $ 5660 276%
Gross profit $ 75157 T §74600 S 5% 07% .
Gross profit as a percentage of total revenue (gross margin) 74.2% 78.4% ’
Total operating expenses ) $ 78,575 $ 66,815 $ 11,760 176%
{Loss) income from operations - T s 3aig) TS 778§ (11,204) T (1439%)
{Loss) income from operations as a percentage '
of total revenue (operating margin) (3.4)% i 8.2% i
 Netincome Y S $ 7065 S (7432 T 933%)
Diluted net income per common share 5 003 $ 038 5 (035) (92.1%)
Total employees (period end) 560 490 70 14.3%
Total average employees ) o 560 487 73 T 15.0%
Total consultants (period end) 126 m 15 13.5%
Total period end quota-carrying sales persons ' '
{excluding managers and inside sales representatives) 70 54 16 29.6%
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY DATA:
Cash, cash equivalents, and short-termand o o T S

long-term marketable securities {(period end) $ 85,829 $ 91,381 $ (5552) {6.1%)
Cash flows from operating activities $ 12,900 $ 6201 $ 6699 108.0%

Total deferred revenue (period end) $30,494 $23,307 $ 7,187 30.8%
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We achieved growth in total revenue during fiscal 2008 driven by growth
in revenue from software license updates, technical support and servic-
es and professional services, partiaily offset by a decrease in revenue from
new software licenses. The growth in revenue from software license
updates, technical support and services and professional services was
generated by growth in sales to corporate enterprises, and to a lesser
extent, sales to United States government customers. The decrease in rev-
enue from new software licenses was largely due to a decrease in sales to
Unites States and international government customers, While total rev-
enue generated from sales to United States government customers
increased in absolute dollars by 5467 during fiscal 2008, the percentage
of revenue from United States government customers decreased to 41%
in fiscal 2008 from 43% in fiscal 2007.

Qur international revenue increased 2.2% to $20,506, or 20.2% of total
revenue, for fiscal 2008. We expect revenue from sales outside the United
States to continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenue
in the future. International revenue in fiscal 2008 benefited from a more
experienced direct sales force and our increased focus on sales to corpo-
rate enterprises. Sales to corporate enterprises accounted for the largest
portion of our international revenue during fiscal 2008. We believe that
continued growth and profitability will require further expansion of our
sales, marketing and customer service functions in international markets.

During fiscal 2008, gross profitincreased 0.7% to $75,157. While our gross
profit increased in absolute dollars during fiscal 2008, our gross margin
decreased to 74.2% for fiscal 2008 from 78.4% in fiscal 2007. The
decrease in our gross margin was primarily due to a decrease in license
revenue of $4,348 in fiscal 2008, which is a more profitable source of our
revenue. The decrease in license revenue was largely the result of a
decrease in license sales to United States and international government
customers, which was partially offset by an increase in license sales to cor-
porate enterprise customers.

As a software company, we believe that our business model has the
potential to generate operating margins of 17% or more. Our operating
margin decreased to negative 3.4% during fiscal 2008 from positive 8.2%
during fiscal 2007. The decrease in operating margin was largely the
result of an increase in research and development expenses of $5,783, an
increase in sales and marketing expenses of $5,224 and a decrease in
license revenue of $4,348

Trends That May Affect Our Business and Future Results

While we anticipate a challenging economic environment in the near
term, we believe the recent expansion of our network applications port-
folio into the appliance-based end user monitoring space, recent
enhancements to our core software products, such as Panorama, and our
focus on improving the productivity of our sales force and controlling
operating expenses has us well positioned to improve our profitability as
compared to fiscal 2008. The demand for our software products and relat-
ed services by corporate enterprise and United States government cus-
tomers has been much stronger than the demand from service providers
and network equipment manufacturers, which is consistent with our
expectations, We believe that lower business activity with service
providers and network equipment manufacturers is primarily due to the

challenging economy in which these businesses operate, which we
expect to continue, at least in the near term. Consequently, our revenue
growth and profitability depend, in significant part, upon our ability to
sell in a challenging economic environment and the economic health of
corporate enterprises and United States government agencies.

We intend to take advantage of our market position and expanded soft-
ware product portfolio to increase both total revenue and new software
license revenue. We anticipate the following trends and patterns over the
next several quarters:

Total Revenue. We currently expect future growth in total revenue to come
from sales to corporate enterprise customers and the United States govern-
ment. Based on historic patterns of demand, we expect revenue from sales
to service providers and network equipment manufacturers to fluctuate
from quarter to quarter with the potential for periods of declining license
revenue, Our ability to increase professional service revenue will depend
upon our ability to generate revenue from contracts with the United States
government and to attract and retain additional qualified consultants,
including those with security clearances. As a result of these factors, we
believe that we may experience fluctuations in quarterly revenue.

International Revenue. Our international sales are affected by the mix of
direct and indirect sales channels and our focus on increasing sales to cor-
porate enterprises. We believe that these factors affect the timing of sales
orders as well as our ability to forecast future revenue. We expect overall
international revenue growth in fiscal 2009; however, we expect to con-
tinue experiencing quarterly fluctuations of international revenue.

Gross Profit Margin. We anticipate modest increases in the cost of profes-
sional services primarily from hiring additional consultants to support
demand for our services. Qur overall gross profit margin will be affected
by the profitability of individual consulting engagements as well as the
amount of gross profit from the sale of new software licenses and soft-
ware license updates, technical support and services, which have sub-
stantially higher gross margins than the gross margin on professional
services revenue. Our ability to increase gross profit margin will depend
largely upon our ability to increase revenue generated from the sale of
new software licenses, which declined by $4,348 in fiscal 2008 as com-
pared to fiscal 2007.

Research and Development Expenses. We believe that continued investment
in research and development will be required to maintain our competi-
tive position and broaden our software product lines, as well as enhance
the features and functicnality of our current software products. We made
significant personnel investments in research and development during
fiscal 2008, We expect that the absolute dollar amount of these expens-
es will continue to grow but generally decrease as a percentage of total
revenue in future periods. Our ability to decrease these expenses, as a
percentage of revenue, will depend upon increases in our revenue
growth, among other factors.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. We depend upon our direct sales model to
generate revenue and believe that increasing the size of our quota-car-
rying sales team is essential for long-term growth. We plan to add quota-
carrying sales persons during fiscal 2009 to pursue our growth strategies.
We anticipate that we will continue to commit substantial resources to
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sales and marketing in the future. We made significant personnel invest-
ments in sales and marketing during fiscal 2008. We expect that the
absolute dollar amount of these expenses will continue to grow but gen-
erally decrease as a percentage of total revenue in future periods.

General and Administrative Expenses, General and administrative expens-
es are expected to increase as we continue to expand our operations;
however, we expect the dollar amount of these expenditures to decrease
as a percentage of total revenue in future periods. Our general and
administrative expenses increased 6.8% during fiscal 2008 as compared
to fiscal 2007. Our ability to decrease these expenses, as a percentage of
revenue, will depend upon increases in our revenue growth, among
other factors.

Operating Margin. Since a significant portion of our software license
arrangements close in the latter part of each guarter, we may not be able
to adjust our cost structure in the short-term to respond to lower than
expected revenue, which would adversely impact our operating margin
and earnings. Our operating margin decreased to negative 3.4% during
fiscal 2008 from positive 8.2% during fiscal 2007, We remain committed
to increasing profitability and long-term growth. We do not believe that
significant changes to our cost structure are necessary at this time, but
we intend to closely control expenses and focus on near-term increases
in profitability by increasing sales of new software licenses.

(ritical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The accompanying discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations are based upon our audited consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The prepa-
ration of these financial statements requires that we make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the car-
rying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results could differ from the estimates made by
management with respect to these and other items that require man-
agement’s estimates.

We have identified the accounting policies that are critical to understand-
ing our historical and future performance, as these policies affect the
reported amounts of revenue and the more significant areas involving
management’s judgments and estimates. These critical accounting poli-
cies relate to revenue recognition and deferred revenue, stock based
compensation, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of long-lived
assets, including intangible assets and impairment review of goodwill,
software development costs, and income taxes. These policies, and our
procedures related to these policies, are described in detail below. In
addition, please refer to Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further dis-
cussion of our accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition. We derive revenue from three primary sources: (1)
new software licenses, (2) software license updates, technical support
and services, which include software license update, certain training pro-
vided and offered on a when-and-if available basis to customers, and
technical support, and (3) professional services, which include consulting
and custom training services for customers without a current mainte-
nance agreement. We recognize revenue based on the provisions of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position,
or SOP, No. 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP
No. 98-9, “Modification of SOP No, 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition,
With Respect to Certain Transactions,” SOP No. 81-1, "Accounting for
Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type
Contracts” and the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, "Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements”

New Software License Revenue

New software license revenue represents all fees earned from granting
customers licenses to use our software, and excludes revenue derived
from software license updates, which are included in software license
updates, technical support and services revenue. Our new software
license revenue consists of perpetual and term license sales of software
products. For the twelve months ended March 31, 2008, perpetual licens-
es represented approximately 97% of software license revenue. New soft-
ware license revenue is recognized when the following four criteria are
met: {i} persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (i} delivery of the
software has occurred, (iii) the software license fee is fixed or deter-
minable, and (iv) collectibility is probable. We define each of these four
criteria as follows:

+ Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. For license arrangements
with end-users, it is our customary practice to have a written software
license agreement, which is signed by both the end user and us, and a
purchase order or equivalent. A written contract can be executed based
on the customer-specific format or on the standard “shrink wrap” soft-
ware master license agreement. For those end users who have previ-
ously negotiated a software license agreement with us, the initial soft-
ware license agreement is used as evidence of a written contract. Sales
to distributors, resellers, and value-added resellers, which we collective-
ly refer to as resellers, are primarily made outside of North America and
are evidenced by a master reseller agreement governing the relation-
ship, which is signed by both the reseller and us, together with a pur-
chase order on a transaction-by-transaction basis. To further evidence
an arrangement, our master reseller agreement requires that the
reseller provide us copies of the end user’s purchase order and execut-
ed copies of the end user’s software master license agreements.

Delivery has occurred. Physical delivery of our software products to end
users or resellers, which are collectively referred to as customers, is gen-
erally considered to have occurred upon the transfer of media contain-
ing our software products to a common carrier {usually FOB shipping
point based on standard agreement terms). Software products may
also be delivered electronically to end users. Electronic delivery is
deemed to occur after end users have been provided with access codes
that allow them to take immediate possession of the software. If a soft-
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ware arrangement includes undelivered software products or services
that are essential to the functionality of delivered software products,
delivery is not considered to have occurred until these software prod-
ucts or services are delivered.

+ The fee is fixed or determinable. It is our policy to not provide customers
the right to any adjustments or refund of any portion of their license
fees paid, acceptance provisions, cancellation privileges, or rights of
return. Qur normal payment terms for our software products and serv-
ices currently range from net 30 days to net 90 days and primarily vary
based on the country in which an agreement is executed. Payments
that extend beyond our normal payment terms from the contract date
but that are due within six months are generally deemed to be fixed or
determinable based on our successful collection history on such
arrangements, and thereby satisfy the required criteria for revenue
recognition. Arrangements with payment terms extending beyond six
months are considered not to be fixed or determinable, and revenue
from such arrangements is recognized as payments become due and
payable,

« Collectibility is probable. Collectibility is assessed on a customer-by-cus-
tomer basis. We typically sell to customers for whom there s a history
of successful collection. New customers are subject to a credit review
process that evaluates the customer’s ability to pay. If we determine
from the outset of an arrangement that collectibility is not probable,
revenue is recognized as cash is collected.

In instances when any of the four criteria are not met, we defer recogni-
tion of software license revenue until the criteria are met. When the sale
of the software product requires us to make significant enhancements,
customization or modifications to the software that are essential to its
functionality, software license revenue and consulting fees are recog-
nized using contract accounting under SOP 81-1. We estimate the per-
centage-of-completion, under SOP 81-1, based on its estimate of total
hours to complete the project as a percentage of total hours incurred and
the estimated hours to complete,

The process of estimation inherent in the application of the percentage-
of-completion method of accounting for revenue is subject to judgments
and uncertainties and may affect the amounts of software license rev-
enue and professional services revenue under certain contracts and relat-
ed expenses reported in our consolidated financial statements. A num-
ber of internal and external factors can affect our estimates to complete
client engagements, including skill level and experience of project man-
agers, staff assigned to engagements and continuity and attrition level
of professional services staff. Changes in the estimated stage of comple-
tion of a particular project could create variability in our revenue and
results of operations if it is required to increase or decrease previously
recognized revenue related to a particular project or if it expects to incur
a loss on the project.

Software License Updates, Technical Support and Services Revenue

Software license updates, technical support and services revenue repre-
sents fees associated with the sale of license updates, training, and tech-
nical suppert, all provided on a when-and-if-available basis (except tech-
nical support) under our maintenance agreement. Payments for software

license updates, technical support and services on initial order or on
renewal are generally made in advance and are nonrefundable. License
updates consist of the right to unspecified software updates on a when-
and-if-available basis and are typically entered into in connection with
the initial software license purchase. License updates, technical support
and services may be renewed upon expiration of the term. Customers
can purchase license updates separately from technical support and
services. Revenue from license updates, technical support and services
is deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the
term of the maintenance agreement.

Revenue under multiple-element arrangements, which typically include
new software licenses, consulting services, training and maintenance
agreements sold together, are allocated to each efement in the arrange-
ment primarily using the residual method based upon the fair value of
the undelivered elements, which is specific to our vendor-specific objec-
tive evidence of fair value, or VSOE. This means that we defer revenue
from the arrangement fee equivalent to the fair value of the undelivered
elements, Discounts, if any, are applied to the delivered elements, usual-
ly software licenses, under the residual method. For periodic unspecified
product updates and technical support agreements, VSOE is based upon
either the renewal rate specified in each contract or the price charged
when sold separately. For consulting services and training for customers
without a current maintenance agreement, VSOE is based upon the rates
charged for these services when sold separately.

If we are unable to establish VSOE for an undelivered post contract sup--
port, or PCS, element, for example, in a two-year term license where the

‘license term and PCS are coterminous and no PCS renewal period exists,

all revenue is recognized ratably over the contract period. For income
statement classification purposes, our allocation methodology is based
on VSOE of fair value for our professional services which is determined by
the price charged when sold separately, and the contractually stated
renewal rates for our PCS, generally 18% to 21% of the license fee paid
on perpetual licenses, We use the residual method to allocate any
remaining arrangement fee to new software license revenue.

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue consists of fees from consulting services
and training for customers without a current maintenance agreement
and is recognized as the services are performed. When we enter into con-
sulting service arrangements that include significant modifications to the
software that are essential to the customer’s use and the arrangement is
bundled with software, revenue under the entire arrangement is recog-
nized under the percentage-of-completion method. For income state-
ment classification purposes, we have developed a revenue allocation
methodology for these arrangements that is consistent with the residual
method used, and described under SOP 97-2, when services are not
essential to the functionality of the software. In these circumstances, rev-
enue is allocated to the various elements of the arrangement based cn
our VSOE of fair value and the residual amount is allocated to new soft-
ware license revenue,

We sell new software licenses, license updates, technical support and
services agreements to distributors at predetermined prices. Sales to dis-
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tributors are not contingent upon resale of the software to the end user.
In most cases, we provide license updates, technical support and servic-
es agreements directly to distributors and the distributors provide sup-
port to the end customer. Revenue from sales to distributors is recorded
at the amounts charged to the distributor and in the same manner as
new software license, license updates, technical support and services
sales sold through our direct sales force. Amounts received in advance of
revenue recognition are classified as deferred revenue.
|

Income Taxes. Effective April 1, 2007, we adopted FASB Interpretation No.
48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes’, or FIN No, 48, As a result
of the implementation, we recognized a $653 increase to our liability for
unrecognized tax benefits. The partion of the increase that was account-
ed for as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings on
the balance sheet was $510. The total amount of gross unrecognized tax
benefits as of April 1, 2007 was $810. Of this total, $781 (net of federal
benefit on state issues) represents the amount of unrecognized tax ben-
efits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax
rate in any future periods. At March 31, 2008, the gross unrecognized
benefit was $838, 5808 of which would favorably affect the effective
income tax rate in future periods. A reconciliation of the beginning and
| ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits follows:

| Unrecognized tax benefits at April 1, 2007 $ 810
Gross increases — tax positions in prior period —_
Gross decreases — tax positions in prior period (80)
Gross increases — current period tax positions 79
Settlements C —
Lapse of statute of limitations T —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 29

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2008 $ 838

The following table summarizes the tax years that are either currently
under audit or remain open under the statute of limitations and are sub-
ject to examination by the tax authorities in the most significant jurisdic-
tions that we operate:

Australia FYO3 - FYOB
Belgium o  FYO4-FYOB
France FY04 - FYOB
Germany FY04 - FY08
United Kingdom - T FY07-FY08
United State FYQ2 - FY03
United States FY05 - FY08
Maryland T 7 TFYoa<Fvos
New York FYO7 - FYO8

Qur continuing practice is to recognize interest, if any, related to income
tax matters in interest expense in our consolidated statements of oper-
ations and penalties as part of general and administrative expense in our
consolidated statemepts of operations. In conjunction with the adoption
of FIN 48, we recognized $20 and $8 for the payment of interest and
penalties, respectively, at April 1, 2007 which is included in accrued inter-
est on the balance sheet. During fiscal 2008, we recognized $6in poten-

tial interest expense associated with uncertain tax positions. The total
accrued interest and accrued penalties related to uncertain tax positions
at March 31, 2008 is $30 and $2, respectively.

We believe it is reasonably possible that significant changes in the liabil-
ity for uncertain tax positions will occur in the next twelve months as a
result of final decisions related to the voluntary payments of our state
and local income taxes and lapse of statute of limitations. In the aggre-
gate, we believe the liability for uncertain tax positions could decrease by
$235in the next twelve months.

The income tax provision includes income taxes currently payable plus
the net change during the year in deferred tax assets or liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the differences between the car-
rying value under GAAP and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using
enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the period in which the differ-
ences are expected to reverse, Judgments and estimates are required in
the calculation of the deferred tax assets, valuation allowance, accrual of
contingencies, research and development tax credits, and foreign tax
credits.

Stock-Based Compensation. On April 1, 2006, we adopted S5FAS 123R, which
revised SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Prior to fis-
cal year 2007 and the adoption of SFAS 123R, we followed the intrinsic
value method of accounting for our stock-based employee compensa-
tion arrangements as defined by Accounting Principles Board QOpinion,
or APB, No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”We have iden-
tified our accounting for stock-based compensation as a critical account-
ing policy, as this policy affects the reported amount of stock-based com-
pensation expense and involves the use of management’s judgments
and estimates. Stock-based compensation expense in connection with
our application of SFAS 123R was $929 and $1,208 for fiscal 2008 and
2007, respectively.

SFAS 123R requires an entity to recognize an expense within its income
statement for all share-based payment arrangements, which includes
employee stock option plans, restricted stock grants, and Employee Stock
Purchase Plan, or ESPP. We have elected to continue straight-line amorti-
zation of stock-based compensation expense for the entire award over the
service period since the awards have only service conditions and graded
vesting. Our stack options and nonvested stock do not ¢contain perform-
ance conditions, There have been no modifications to awards in 2008 or
2007. We adopted SFAS 123R under the modified prospective method.
Under the modified prospective method, SFAS 123R applies to new
awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after April 1,
2006 as well as to the unvested portion of awards cutstanding as of April
1, 2006. Stock-based compensation for unvested awards granted prior to
April, 1, 2006 is based upon the grant date fair value of such compensa-
tion as determined under pro forma provisions of SFAS No 123.

Our stock option programs are accounted for as equity awards. The
expense is based on the grant-date fair value of the options granted, and
is recognized over the requisite service period.

To estimate the grant-date fair value of our stock options, we use the
Black-5choles option-pricing model, consistent with that used for pro
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forma disclosure under SFAS No 123. The Black-5choles model estimates
the per share fair value of an option on its date of grant based on the fol-
lowing: the option’s exercise price; the price of the underlying stock on
the date of grant; the estimated dividend yield; a “risk-free" interest rate;
the estimated option term; and the expected volatility. For the“risk-free”
interest rate, we use a U.S. Treasury bond due in a number of years equal
to the option's expected term. To estimate expected volatility, we ana-
lyzed the historic volatility of our common stock. There were no stock
options granted in fiscal 2008.

Compensation cost for stock option grants is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award from the
date of grant through the period of the last separately vesting portion of
the grant. Compensation cost is recognized within the income statement
in the same expense line as the cash compensation paid to the respec-
tive employees. SFAS 123R also requires us to estimate forfeitures in cal-
culating the expense related to stock-based compensation. We have con-
cluded that our historical forfeiture rate is the best measure to estimate
future forfeitures of granted stock options. The impact on compensation
costs due to changes in the expected forfeiture rate will be recognized
in the period that they become known. As of March 31, 2008, nonvest-
ed stock-based deferred compensation associated with stock options
totaled 5162, which we expect to be recognized over a weighted aver-
age period of 3 months.

Qur restricted stock grants are accounted for as equity awards. The
expense is based on the price of our common stock, and is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. We did not grant
any restricted stock prior to February 2006. The restricted stock agree-
ments do not contain any post-vesting restrictions. We have concluded
that our historical forfeiture rate is the best measure to estimate future
forfeitures of granted stock options. As of March 31, 2008, nonvested
stock-based deferred compensation associated with restricted stock
totaled $1,699, which we expect to be recognized over a weighted aver-
age period of 1.3 years.

Our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, provides all eligible
employees to collectively purchase up to a total of 450 shares of our com-
mon stock, An employee may authorize a payroll deduction up to a max-
imurm of 10% of his or her compensation during the plan period. The pur-
chase price for each share purchased is the lesser of 85% of the closing
price of the common stock on the first or last day of the plan period. The
plan period for the ESPP ends in January and July of each year. The
expense is calculated based on the difference between the fair market
value of the shares purchased at the close of each plan period and the
discounted price paid by the employee, and that expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the plan period. As of March 31, 2008, non-
vested stock-based deferred compensation associated with ESPP totaled
$139 and is expected 1o be recognized over a weighted average period
of 4 months.

Auction Rate Securities. As of March 31, 2008, we held auction rate secu-
rities, or ARS, totaling $8,800 at par value, which are classified as available
for sale securities and short-term and long-term marketable securities on
our consolidated balance sheet. Contractual maturities for these ARS
extend through Novermnber 2047 with an interest rate reset date approx-

imately every 28 days. The ARS are primarily collateralized by United
States government-backed student loans and were rated AAA at March
31, 2008, Historically, the carrying value of ARS approximated fair value
due to the frequent successful auctions that reset the interest rates. With
the liquidity issues experienced in the global credit and capital markets,
our ARS have experienced failed auctions. While we continue to earn and
receive interest on these marketable securities at the maximum contrac-
tual rate, we determined that the estimated fair value of these ARS no
longer approximate par value.

Since there is little or no active market data for our ARS, we developed
our own assumptions to determine the fair value of the securities. We
assumed that the fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that
would be received if we sold the ARS in an orderly transaction between
market participants. We prepared our fair value analysis to determine the
axit price by focusing on the structure of each ARS, the collateral under-
lying each ARS, the cash flow characteristics, and the current trading
environment of such securities. We also considered the valuation pre-
pared for us by a third-party valuation firm. With regard to the structure
of each ARS, we charted the cash flows pertaining to the ARS and mod-
eled the net present value. While we believe that the estimates we used
are reasonable, should any of these factors change, our estimates may
also change, which could affect the valuation of our ARS. In addition, we
performed extensive research on the collateral underlying the ARS and
the trading environment for such financial products. Itis our view that a
number of factors have contributed to the recent market disruption: rea!
and perceived decline in value of collateralized assets and other financial
instruments; increased defaults on home mortgages and bankruptcies;
tightening of credit among lenders; increasing commodity prices and the
weakening of the United States dollar; and fears of a United States reces-
sion. Based on our analysis and our belief that the ARS are of high cred-
it quality, we determined that the fair value of the ARS at March 31, 2008
was 58,419 and recorded a temporary impairment charge of $381. We
currently intend, and believe we have the ability, to hold the ARS for a
period of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in the market.
Accordingly, we believe that the impairment is temporary. We recorded
the temporary impairment charge to other comprehensive income on
our consolidated balance sheet. We also classified $6,968 of the ARS as
long-term marketable securities on our consclidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2008.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an aliowance for doubtful
accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting from the inability of
our customers to make required payments and for the limited circum-
stances when the customer disputes the amounts due us. Our method-
ology for determining this allowance requires significant estimates. In
estimating the allowance, we consider the age of the receivable, the
creditworthiness of the customer, the economic conditions of the cus-
tomer’s industry and general economic conditions. While we believe that
the estimates we use are reasonable, should any of these factors
change, our estimates may also change, which could affect the amount
of our future allowance for doubtful accounts as well as future operating
income. Specifically, if the financial condition of our customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments
to us, additional allowances could be required. As of March 31, 2008 and
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2007, accounts receivable totaled $26,146 and $25,300, net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts of $154 and $133, respectively.

Valuation of Intangible Assets and Goodwill. We account for our goodwill
and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations”and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”
Qur intangible assets consist of acquired technology related to our acqui-
sitions of a software product for modeling voice communications in
December 2003, Altaworks in October 2004, and purchased technology
we purchased from RadView Software, Ltd. in December 2005,
SQMworks, Inc. in April 2006 and Network Physics, inc. in October 2007.
Our intangible assets also consist of custorner relationships and acquired
waorkforce we purchased from Network Physics, Inc. related to the pur-
chase of specified assets of Network Physics in October 2007. The
acquired and purchased technology are stated at the lower of unamor-
tized cost or net realizable value and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over their expected useful lives of three to five years. Qur customer
relationship and workforce intangible assets we purchased from Network
Physics, Inc. are amortized on an accelerated depreciation basis over their
expected useful lives of four and one half years and five years, respective-
ly. We use the projected discounted cash flow method in valuing our
acquired technology and purchased customer relationships using certain
assumptions including revenue growth, cost levels, present value dis-
count rate, and working capital requireménts. We use the lower of the
amount of cash paid or the present value of projected discounted cash
flows to value purchased technology. The workforce asset associated
with the purchase of specified assets of Network Physics, Inc, was valued
on a replacerment cost basis. While we believe the assumptions used to
value our acquired technology related to acquisitions are reasonable,
actual results will likely differ from those assumptions. Future cash flows
are subject to change for a variety of internal and external factors, We will
periodically review the value of acquired technology and purchased
intangible assets for reasonableness in accordance with SFAS No. 144,

“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposat of Long-Lived Assets” If
changes in our assumptions at the time of future periodic reviews indi-
cate that the carrying value of our acquired technology and purchased
intangible assets exceeds their fair value and we determine that carrying
amoeunts can not be recovered, it would result in impairment losses. As
of March 31, 2008 and 2007, intangible assets totaled $8,633 and $899,
net of accumulated amortization of $5,302 and $3,648, respectively. No
impairment losses have been recorded to date.

Goodwill is recorded when the consideration paid for acquisitions
exceeds the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired.
Goodwill is not amortized. We perform an annual review no later than
our fourth quarter to identify any facts or circumstances thatindicate the
carrying value of goodwill is impaired. The review is based on various
analyses including cash flow and profitability projections and the market
capitalization of our common stock. Impairment, if any, is based on the
excess of the carrying amount of goodwill over its fair value. We per-
formed our annual impairment test of goodwill as of March 31, 2008 and
2007 and concluded that there was no goodwill impairment. As of
March 31, 2008 and 2007, goodwill was $14,639. No impairment losses
have been recorded to date.

Accounting for Software Development Costs. Costs incurred in the research
and development of new software products are expensed as incurred
until technological feasibility is established. Development costs are cap-
italized beginning when a product’s technological feasibility has been
established and ending when the product is available for general
release to our customers, Technologicat feasibility is reached when the
product reaches the working model stage. To date, products and
enhancerments have generally reached technological feasibility and have
been released for sale at substantially the same time and alt research and
development costs have been expensed. Consequently, no research and
development costs were capitalized in fiscal 2008, 2007 or 2006.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth items from our consolidated statements of operations expressed as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indi-

cated:
Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006

REVENUE:
New software licenses 38.3% 45.4% 42.0%

i Software license updates, technical support and services 343 295 318

! Professional services - 274 25.1 26.2

| Total revenue 100.0 100.0 100.0

|

| COST OF REVENUE:

; New sbftware licenses 7% ) ____ T T T T 07 777 a9

i Software license updates, technical support, and services 44 34 34

; Professional services 18.9 16.7 18.0
Amortization of acquired technology 1.5 08 1.1

Total cost of revenue 25.8 216 234
Gross profit 74.2 78.4 76.6

| OPERATING EXPENSES:

| Research and development 271 2238 246

; Sales and marketing 389 T Tz T 345
General and administrative 11.6 116 17.5
Total operating expenses 776 70.2 76.6
{Loss) income from operations (3.4) 8.2 - 00
Interest and other income, net 35 40 35
Income before (benefit) provision for income taxes 0.1 12.2 3.5
(_Behéfi_tmo_v_ision forincome taxes T (_0'.4)_ T 38 i 07
o 0.5% 8.4% 2.8%

The following table sets forth, for each component of revenue, the cost of the revenue as a percentage of the related revenue for the periods indi-

Net income
cated:
]

Cost of new software licenses

Cost of software license updates, technical support, and services

Fiscal 2008

2.7%
13.0

Cost of professional services

69.1

) 1.5%
116

666

Fiscal 2007

Fiscal 2006
2.1%
108
688
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Revenue

New Software License Revenue. New software licenses revenue was

'~ $38,838, 543,186, and 531,976, in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respective-

ly, representing a decrease of 10.1% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and an
increase of 35.1% in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006. For fiscal 2008, the
decrease in license revenue was primarily due to a decrease in sales to
United States and international government customers, partially offset
by anincrease in sales to corporate enterprise customers, For fiscal 2007,
the increase in license revenue as compared to fiscal 2006 was largely
due to an increase in sales to corporate enterprises and United States
government customers.

Software License Updates, Technical Support and Services Revenue.
Software license updates, technical support and services revenue was
$34,787, 528,062, and $24,226 in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respective-
ly, representing increases of 24.0% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and
15.8% in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006. Software license updates, technical
support and services revenue growth rates are partially affected by the
overall new software license revenue growth rates, as well as the renew-
al rate of annual maintenance contracts by existing customers. The
increase in software license updates, technical support and services rev-
enue in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 primarily reflected increases in the
overall customer installed base as compared to the prior fiscal year.

Professional Services Revenue. The components of professional servic-
es revenue for fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006 were as follows:

Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006

fin thousands)
Consulting services $ 27,099 $ 22,399 $ 18639
Training and other revenue 622 1,483 1,274
Professional services S 2772 S 23,882 $ 19913

Professional services revenue was $27,721, 523,882, and $19,913 in fiscal
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, representing increases of 16.1% in fis-
cal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and of 19.9% in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006.
Consulting services revenue accounted for 97.8%, 93.8%, and 93.6% of pro-
fessional services revenue for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The
increases in professional services revenue were largely due to growing
demand for our consulting services by United States government cus-
tomers, and to a lesser extent, corporate enterprise customers. Revenue
from consulting services provided to United States government customers
for fiscat 2008, 2007 and 2006 were 518,644, $15,845, and $13,868, respec-
tively, representing increases of 17.7% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and
14.3% in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006. Training and other revenue was $622,
$1,483 and 51,274 infiscal 2008, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The decrease
in training revenue in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006
was the result of offering training to maintained customers on a when-and-
if available basis beginning January 1, 2007.

In January 2003, we were awarded a consulting contract with the United
States Department of Defense. In February 2006, we were awarded the
contract option for calendar year 2006 in the amount of $2,899. The
option contributed approximately $2,329 and $596 of consulting rev-
enue for fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively. In February 2007, we were

awarded the last contract option for calendar year 2007 in the amount of
$2,119. As of December 31, 2007 we received additional awards of $2,905
associated with the last contract option. The option for calendar year
2007 and associated additional awards of $2,905 received as of March 31,
2008 contributed approximately $1,730 and $167 of consulting revenue
for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively. This contract expired at the end of
calendar 2007 and there are no remaining extensions on the contract.
Accordingly, we do not expect to receive meaningful additional revenue
from this contract.

International Revenue. Our international revenue increased 2.2% to
$20,506, or 20.2% of total revenue in fiscal 2008 from $20,059, or 21.1%
of total revenue, for fiscal 2007. Our international revenue increased
21.3% during fiscal 2007 from $16,541, or 21.7% of total revenue, for fis-
cal 2006. The increase in international revenue in fiscal 2008 and fiscal
2007 was primarily the result of an increase in sales to corporate enter-
prise customers. Our international revenue is primarily generated in
Europe and Japan. We have focused our efforts on increasing internation-
al sales to corporate enterprises. International revenue from corporate
enterprises comprised the largest portion of international revenue for fis-
cal 2008. During fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, we expanded our opera-
tions outside the United States through the hiring of additionat direct
sales persons in our foreign subsidiaries. During fiscal 2008, we further
expanded our operations outside the United States through a wholly
owned subsidiary in Singapore.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of new software license revenue consists primarily of the cost of
hardware assaciated with our ACE Live software products and royalties,
and to a lesser extent, media, manuals, and distribution costs. Cost of
license updates, technical support and services revenue consists of per-
sonnel-related costs necessary to provide technical support and training
to customers with active maintenance contracts on a when-and-if-avail-
able basis, royalties, media, and distribution costs. Cost of professional
services revenue consists primarily of personnel-related costs necessary
to provide consulting and training to customers without active mainte-
nance contracts. Gross margins on new software ficense revenue and on
software license updates, technical support and services revenue are sub-
stantially higher than gross margin on professional services revenue, due
to the low amount of cost for delivering new software licenses and pro-
viding technical support and maintenance compared with the relatively
high personnel costs associated with providing consulting services.

Cost of New Software License Revenue. Cost of software license revenue was
$1,035, 5638, and 5657 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, respec-
tively. Gross margin on software license revenue was 97.3%, 98.5%, and
98.0% for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The increase in costs
and the decrease in gross margin for fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal
2007 was primarily the result of $383 in hardware costs associated with
our ACE Live software product. Qur ACE Live software products were
released during the three months ended December 31, 2007.
Accordingly, the cost of hardware associated with our ACE Live software
products has not previously been recorded as a cost of new software
license revenue. The decrease in costs and increase in gross margin for fis-
cal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 was primarily related to the
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decrease in the proportion of licenses we sold that required us to make
royalty payments in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006.

Cost of Software License Updates, Technical Support and Services Revenue.
Cost of software license updates, technical support and services revenue
was 54,514, 53,264, and 52,637 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006,
respectively. Gross margin on software license updates, technical sup-
port, and services revenue was 87.0%, 88.4%, and 89.1% for fiscal 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. The cost of software license updates, tech-
nical support and services revenue is primarily affected by the cost of
labor associated with providing technical support and related services to
customers with technical support contracts, and to a lesser extent, roy-
alty payments required for some of our license update sales. The
increase in costs and the decrease in gross margin for fiscal year 2008 as
compared to 2007 was largely related to a $693 increase in costs neces-
sary to provide training to customers with maintenance contracts and a
$331 increase in personnel costs necessary to provide technical support.
The increase in costs and the decrease in gross margin for fiscal year 2007
as compared to fiscal 2006 was primarily related to a 5248 increase in
costs necessary to provide training to maintained customers and a $331
increase in personnel costs necessary to provide technical support. Costs
necessary to provide training to maintained customers did not affect fis-
cal 2006, as we did not begin offering training to customers with main-
tenance contracts on a when-and-if available basis until January 1, 2007.
Stock-based compensation expense included in cost of software license
updates, technical support and services was %21 and $16 for fiscal 2008
and fiscal 2007, respectively. There was no stock-based compensation
expense for fiscal 2006.

Cost of Professional Services Revenue. Cost of professional services revenue
was $19,154, $15,904, and $13,705 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal
2006, respectively. Gross margin on professional services revenue
decreased to 30.9% for fiscal 2008 from 33.4% for fiscal 2007. Gross mar-
gin on professional services revenue increased to 33.4% for fiscal 2007
from 31.2% for fiscal 2006. The increase in cost of professional services in
fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 were pri-
marily due to an increase in our consulting staff necessary to meet
demand for our services, We had 126, 111, and 96 consulting employees
at the end of fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The decrease in
gross margin in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primarily due to lower
effective billing rates for consulting projects during fiscal 2008 as com-
pared to fiscal 2007. The increase in gross margin in fiscal 2007 from fis-
cal 2006 was primarily due to higher effective billing rates for consulting
projects during fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006. We expect the cost
of professional services revenue as a percentage of professional servic-
es revenue to vary based primarily on the profitability of individual con-
sulting engagements and, to a lesser extent, costs necessary to recruit
and train new consulting staff. Stock-based compensation expense
included in cost of professional services was $148 and $175 for fiscal
2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively. There was no stock-based compensa-
tion expense for fiscal 2006.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development. Research and development expenses were
$27,471, 521,688, and 518,643 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006,

respectively, representing increases of 26.7% in fiscal 2008 from fiscal
2007 and 16.3% in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006. The increase in fiscal 2008
from fiscal 2007 and the increase in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 were pri-
marily due to higher personnel costs as a result of increased staffing lev-
els required for developing new products as well as sustaining and
upgrading existing products. We do not capitalize research and develop-
ment costs since we release our products to the public at the same time
that technological feasibility is reached. We had 185, 161, and 150
research and development employees at the end of fiscat 2008, 2007,
and 2006, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense included in
research and development was $568 and $533 for fiscal 2008 and fiscal
2007, respectively. There was no stock-based compensation expense for
fiscal 2006.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses were $39,357,
$34,133, and $26,300 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, respec-
tively. The 15.3% increase in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was due to an
increase in personnel costs and commission expense of $3,428, travel
costs of $537, facility costs of $506 and conference costs of 5428. Our
sales and marketing personnel increased 19.1%to 168 in fiscal 2008 from
141 infiscal 2007. The 29.8% increase in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 was
due to an increase in commission expense and personnel costs of $5,375
related to sales growth and personnel growth, an increase in conference
costs of $1,009, an increase in professional services costs of $496 and an
increase in advertising of $322. Our sales and marketing personnel
increased 10.2% to 141 in fiscal 2007 from 128 in fiscal 2006. The increas-
es in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 and in fiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 were
the result of efforts to pursue our growth strategies. Stock-based com-
pensation expense included in sales and marketing was $374 and $329
for fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively. There was no stock-based
compensation expense for fiscal 2006,

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses were
$11,747,$10,994, and 513,375 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006,
respectively, The 6.8% increase in fiscal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was large-
ly due to an increase in professional services costs. The increase in pro-
fessionaf services during fiscal 2008 was largely due to $720in fees relat-
ed to the acquisition of specified assets of Network Physics. The 17.8%
decrease infiscal 2007 from fiscal 2006 was primarily due to a decreasein
professional services during fiscal 2007. The decrease in professional serv-
ices costsin fiscal 2007 was primarily the result of incurring legal expens-
es of $3,851 during fiscal 2006 related to the lawsuit filed by Compuware
Corporation in September of 2004. No significant legal expenses related
to the tawsuit filed by Compuware Corporation were incurred during fis-
cal 2007, as the lawsuit was settled in April 2006. The decrease in profes-
sional services costs during fiscal 2007 was partially offset by a $1,234
increase in personnel costs necessary to support our growth strategies.
Stock-based compensation expense included in general and administra-
tive was $428 and $409 for fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively. There
was no stock-based compensation expense for fiscal 2006.

Interest and Other income, net. Interest and other income, net was $3,579,
$3,834, and $2,680 in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006, respective-
ly. The increases in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 were primarily due to
increases in interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents
and marketable securities resulting from increases in the aggregate bal-



£} OPNET Technologies, Inc, 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

ances of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities together with
increases in interast rates.

Provision for Income Taxes. Qur effective tax rates were negative 231%,
positive 32%, and positive 19% for fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006,
respectively. The decrease in our effective tax rate in fiscal 2008 from fis-
cal 2007 was primarily the result of a decrease in book income and an
increase in permanent book to tax differences such as tax exempt inter-
est income. The increase in our effective tax rate in fiscal 2007 from fiscal
2006 was primarily the result of the reduced benefit of research and devel-
opment tax credits and adjusting projected foreign tax credits and pro-
jected research and development tax credits to the actual amount of the
credits computed in conjunction with completing and filing our fiscal
2006 tax return in December of fiscal 2007. The effective tax rate differs
from the statutory tax rate and varies from period to period due principal-
ly to the amount of income before taxes from various tax jurisdictions, tax-
exempt interest income, foreign tax expense, and the amount of tax cred-
its available to us in each period from incremental research expenditures.
Future provisions for taxes will depend, among other things, on the mix
and amount of worldwide income, the tax rates in effect for various tax
jurisdictions and the amount of research and development tax credits, for-
eign tax credits and other items for which we are eligible.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have funded our operations primarily through cash
provided by operating activities and through the sale of equity securities.
In August 2000, we completed our initial public offering in which we
raised approximately 554,114, net of underwriting discounts and offer-
ing expenses payable by us, As of March 31, 2008 and 2007, we had cash,
cash equivalents, short-term and long-term marketable securities total-
ing $85,829 and $91,381, respectively. Prior to March 31, 2008, our long-
term marketable securities of $6,968 were classified as short-term mar-
ketable securities. Our long-term marketable securities were comprised
of highly rated auction rate securities with maturities in excess of one
year. The majority of these auction rate securities were collateralized by
United States government-backed obligations. During the three months
ended March 31, 2008, the auction rate securities became subject to
adverse market conditions, and the liquidity typically associated with the
financial markets for such instruments became restricted as auctions for
auction rate securities began to fail. As a result of the failed auctions, we
classified $6,968 of our auction rate securities as fong-term marketable
securities, and we determined that the auction rate securities were tem-
porarily impaired and recorded a temporary impairment charge in other
comprehensive income in our consolidated balance Sheet of $381 at
March 31, 2008.

Cash provided by operating activities was $12,900, $6,201, and $8,705 for
fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Cash provided by operating
activities is primarily derived from net income, as adjusted for non-cash
items such as depreciation and amortization expense, tax benefits from
the exercise of employee stock options, and changes in operating assets
and liabilities. The increase in cash provided by operating activities in fis-
cal 2008 from fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable to an increase in cash
resulting from an increase in depreciation and amortization expense,
deferred revenue and accounts payable and accrued expenses, which

was partially offset by an decrease in cash resulting from a decrease in
net income and an increase in prepaid expenses. The decrease in cash
provided by operating activities in fiscat 2007 from fiscal 2006 was prima-
rily attributable to a decrease in cash resulting from an increase in
accounts receivable, which was partially offset by an increase in cash
resulting from an increase in netincome and deferred revenue,

Net cash provided by investing activities was 927,254 in fiscal 2008. Net
cash used in financing activities was $41,377 in fiscal 2007. Net cash pro-
vided by investing activities was $22,667 in fiscal 2006. Investing activities
include the purchase, sale or maturity of marketable securities, acquisition
of property and equipment, and net expenditures for business combina-
tions and technology acquisitions. For fiscal 2008, we used funds of
$10,005 to purchase specified assets from Network Physics, funds of
$114,799 to purchase short-term and fong-term marketable securities, and
funds of $4,557 to purchase property and equipment. We received pro-
ceeds of $156,615 from the sale or maturity of short-term marketable secu-
rities for fiscal 2008. For fiscal 2007, funds were used to purchase short-term
marketable securities of $109,637, purchase property and equipment of
$3,529 and purchase intangible assets of $366. Proceeds from the sale or
maturity of short-term marketable securities were $72,155 for fiscal 2007.
For fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, a majority of our capital expenditures were
for information technetogy and software purchases.

Cash used in financing activities was $3,630 for fiscal 2008. Cash provid-

ed by financing activities was $2,452 for fiscal 2007, Cash used in financ-
ing activities was $2,514 in fiscal 2006. We used cash of $5,013 to acquire
522 shares of treasury stock during fiscal 2008. We used cash of $1,521
to acquire 104 shares of treasury stock during fiscal 2007. Cash provided
by financing activities for 2008 reflects the proceeds received from the
exercise of stock options of $365 and proceeds from the sale of common
stock under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $989. Cash pro-
vided by financing activities for 2007 reflects the proceeds received from
the exercise of stock options of $2,987 and proceeds from the sale of
common stock under our 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of $753.
Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we reported tax benefits from the
exercise of stock options as an operating cash flow in the consolidated
statement of cash flows. In the period beginning April 1, 2006, excess tax
benefits from the exercise of stock options are presented as an increase
in cash flow from financing activities. For fiscal 2008 and-fiscal 2007,
excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options were $29 and $383,
respectively.

We have commitments under contractual arrangements to make future
payments for goods and services. These contractual arrangements
secure the rights to various assets and services to be used in the future
in the normal course of business. For example, we are contractually com-
mitted to make minimum lease paymenits for the use of property under
operating lease agreements. In accordance with current accounting
rules, the future rights and related obligations pertaining to such con-
tractual arrangements are not reported as assets or liabilities on our con-
solidated balance sheets. Qur FIN No, 48 liability for unrecognized tax
benefits is reported on our consolidated balance sheets. We expect to
fund these contractual arrangements with our cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities as well as cash generated from operations in
the normal course of business.
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The following table summarizes our contractual operating lease arrangements and our FIN No. 48 Liability at March 31, 2008, and the timing and effect
that such commitments are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Payments Due by Period

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND FIN NO. 48 LIABILITY inthousands)  Total FY09 FY10-FY11  FY12-FY13  AfterFY13
Facilities Operating Lease Obligations T $ 29,964 $ 5079 § 9943  § 4,138 § 10804
Other Opérating Lease Obligations 346 163 183 — —
FIN No. 48 Liability 838 235 524 79 —
Total $ 31,148 $ 5477  $ 10,650 § 4,217 § 10,804

See Notes 9 and 10 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information related to our operating leases. As of March 31, 2008, we had

no capital lease obligations.

Effective June 10, 2002, we entered into a credit facility with a commer-
cial bank. The credit facility permits the use of funds for general corpo-
rate purposes and the issuance of letters of credit up to a maximum of
$10,000 in the aggregate. Borrowings under the credit facility are limit-
ed to 80% of eligible accounts receivable. We used the facility to issue an
irrevocable fetter of credit for approximately $2,122 to satisfy the secu-
rity deposit requirements for our corporate office lease. Upon a default,
as defined in the corporate office lease agreement, and written notice
from the landiord to us, the landlord had the right to draw upon the let-
ter of credit in whole or in part. Interest under this facility is payable
monthly, based on LIBOR plus the applicable margin ranging from 2% to
2.5% as stated in the loan agreement. The credit facility includes a fee in
the amount of 0.25% per annum on the unused portion of the credit
facility. The credit facility is collateralized by our accounts receivable. The
loan agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants
including a restriction on the payment of dividends. We were in compli-
ance with all affirmative and negative covenants as of March 31, 2008.
Effective June 10, 2007, the credit facility was renewed for $2,000 and is
due to expire on June 30, 2008. As of March 31, 2007, we had available
borrowings of $249 under the credit facility. We plan to renew the cred-
it facility in fiscal 2009.

We expect working capital needs to increase in the foreseeable future in
order for us to execute our business plan and growth strategies. We antic-
ipate that operating activities, as well as planned capital expenditures,
will constitute a material use of our cash resources. In addition, we may
utilize cash resources to fund acquisitions or investments in complemen-
tary businesses, technologies or products as well as repurchase our com-
mon stock in accordance with our stock repurchase program authorized
by our Board on February 4, 2008.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents, marketable secu-
rities, and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for working capital and capital expendi-
tures at least through fiscal 2009.

0Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidat-
ed entities or refated parties and, accordingly, there are no off-balance
sheet risks to our liquidity and capital resources from unconsclidated
entities.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,”or SFAS No. 157, This stan-
dard clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assump-
tions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liabil-
ity. Additionally, it establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
information used to develop those assumptions. SFAS No. 157 is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007. We have not yet determined the impact that the implementa-
tion of SFAS No. 157 will have on our results of operations or financial
condition.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” or SFAS No. 159. SFAS No.
159 permits entities to choose to measure, on an item-by-item basis,
specified financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses onitems for which the fair value option has
been elected are required to be reported in earnings at each reporting
date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007, the provisions of which are required to be applied prospective-
ly. We have not yet determined the impact that the implementation of
SFAS No. 159 wilt have on our resuits of operations or financial condition.

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 141{R}. “Business
Combinations,” or SFAS No. 141(R). SFAS No. 141 (R} which replaces SFAS
No. 141 requires that the acquisition. method of accounting, which SFAS
No. 141 called the “purchase method” be used for all business combina-
tions and for an acquirer to be identified for each business combination.
SFAS No. 141 (R) also establishes principles and requirements for how
the acquirer: recognizes and measures in its financial statement the iden-
tifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling
interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired
in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and
determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. SFAS No. 141 (R) also requires that acquisition-related costs
be recognized separately from the business combination. SFAS Ne. 141
(R} will apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acqui-
sition date is after fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008,
We have not yet determined the impact that the implementation of SFAS
No. 141 (R} will have on our results of operations or financial condition.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of OPNET Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”} is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal con-
trol over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f} or 15d-15(f} promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and
effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of finan-
cial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
includes those policies and procedures that:

(i} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with author-
ization of management and directors of the Company; and

{iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any eval-
uation of effectiveness 1o future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008. In making this assessment, our man-
agement used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0} in Internal Control-ntegrated
Framework. Based on our assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of March 31, 2008,

OPNET Technologies, Inc.
June 9, 2008

o
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM .
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Audit Committee and Stockholders of OPNET Technologies, Inc.
Bethesda, Maryland

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of OPNET Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”} as of March 31, 2008,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting inciuded in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal contrel over financial reporting was maintained,
in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we con-
sidered necessary in the circumstances, We helieve that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and
principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other per-
sonnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external pur-
poses in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("generally accepted accounting principles”), and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internat control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management over-
ride of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inad-
equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008, in all material respects, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control-—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated finan-
cial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2008, of the Company and our report dated June 9, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion
on those consolidated financial statements and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the change in method of accounting in fiscal year 2008
for uncertain tax positions to conform to Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, and the change in method of accounting in fiscal year 2007 for share-based payments to conform to FASB Statement No. 123 {revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment.

Dol & douehe kLP

McLean, Virginia
June 9, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Audit Committee and Stockholders of
OPNET Technologies, Inc.

~ Bethesda, Maryland

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OPNET Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”} as of March 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three yearsin
the period ended March 31, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement pres-
entation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of OPNET Technolaogies, Inc. and
its subsidiaries as of March 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
March 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consclidated financial statements, in fiscal year 2008, the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertain
tax positions to conform to Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty In Income Taxes, and in
fiscal year 2007, the Company changed its method of accounting for share-based payments to conform to FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated June 9, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Dol & Jouthe KLP

McLean, Virginia

June 9, 2008
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(O N SO I.I DATED BAI.AN (E SH EETS {in thousands, except per share data)}

ASSETS March 31,
CURRENT ASSETS: 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents $ 71410 $ 34,766
Marketable securities T N TS 56,615
Accounts receivable, net of $154 and 5133 in allowance for doubtful accounts
at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively 20,780 21,604
Unbilled accounts receivable S T 5366 T 3696
Inventory 319 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets o S 3,627 4,366
Total current assets 108,953 121,047
Marketable securities i ) i 6,968 —
Property and equipment, net S T 7 os8a 8745
Intangible assets, net 8,633 899
Goodwill o 14,639 14,639
Deferred income taxes and other assets o T 3,461 2328
Total assets $ 153,538 $147,658
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:;
Accounts payable $ 489 5 276
Accrued liabitiies T B 8,555 8,321
Deferred and accrued income taxes 658 458
Deferred rent 326 210
Deferred revenue S ) I 28,722 T 22414
Total current liabilities 38,750 31,679
Accrued liabilities 59 259
Deferredrent - S 1,762 T 1956
Deferred revenue 1,772 893
Other income tax 550 —
Total liabilities 42,893 34,787
Commitments and contingendies (Note 9
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Common stack - par value $0,001; 100,000 shares authorized; 27,576 and 27,289 shares
issued at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively; 20,407 and 20,641 shares outstanding
at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively 28 27
Additional paid-in capital 89,878 86,881
Retained éarnings ) T 34,838 " 34815
Accumulated other comprehensive income . 160 394
Treasury stock - 7,169 and 6,647 shares at March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, at cost (14,259) (9.2456)
Total stockholders’ equity 110,645 112,871
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 153,538 $ 147,658

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS {in thousands, except per shar¢ data}

Year Ended March 31,
2008 2007 2006

REVENUES:
New software licenses T - 5 38,838 S 43386 S 31976
Software license updates, technical support and services 34,787 - 28,062 24,226
Professional services 27,721 23,882 19913

Total revenues 101,346 95,130 76,115
COST OF REVENUES:
New software licenses T 1,035 638 T Tes7
Software license updates, technical support and services 4514 3,264 2,637
Professional services ' 19,154 T 15904 13,705
Amortization of acquired technology T 1,486 723 T T e3z

Total cost of revenues 26,189 20,529 17,831

Gross profit 75,157 74,601 58,284
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development T 27,471 21,688 18,643
Sales and marketing 39,357 34,133 26,300
General and administrative . 1,747 10,994 13,375

Total operating expenses 78,575 66,815 58,318
(LOSS) INCOME FROM OPERATIONS (3,418} 7,786 (34}
Interest and other income, net R 3,579 3,834 2,680
Income before (benefit) provision for income taxes 161 11,620 2,646
{Benefit} provision for income taxes 372y 3,655 " 509
NET INCOME $ 533 $ 7,965 $ 2137
Basic net income per common share %003 $ 039 $ 010
Diluted net income per common share s 003 $ 038 § 010
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 20,342 20,358 20,374
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 20,621 21,206 20,604

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial staternents,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY s thousands

Accurnilated
Comman Stock Treasury Stock Other
I Shares Shares ' Additional T 1 Retained
Issued Qutstanding ~ Amount  Paidin Capital ~ Shares Amount Earnings

Balance, April 1, 2005 26,443 20,309 $26 579,406 6,134 $ {4,100} 5 24,713
Netincome ' 2137
Foreign currency translation
Unrealized gain on marketable securities T T - -
Total comprehensive income i
Issuance of common stock:
Exercise of options ' 79 179 612
Employee stock purchase plan 73 73 1 497
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options T T S
Restricted stock issuance 43 43 408
Purchase of treasury shares "7 (409) 409 (3,625)
Deferred compensatton T i N {408) T
Amortization of deferred compensation 27
Balance, March 31, 2006 26,738 20,194 27 80,591 6,543 (7,725} 26,850
Net income ' ' 7,965
Foreign currency translation
Unrealized loss on marketable securities i - T
Total comprehensive income ’
Issuance of common stock:
Exercise of options ) 38i 381 2,987
Employee stock purchase plan 85 85 753
Tax benefit from exercise o?gtgcli)atlaﬁ;ﬁ a T 1,088 T
Restricted stock issuance 85 85 —
Purchase of treasury shares {104) 104 {1,521)
Stock based compensation expense T T 1462 T )
Balance, March 1, 2007 27,2859 20,641 27 86,881 6,647 (9.246) 34,815
Netincome cTT o N T 533
Foreign currency translation ‘
Unrealized loss on marketable securities
Total comprehensive income ’ B h o "
Adoption of FIN48 - cumulative effect (510
Exercise of o optlons T 60 60 365 )
Employee stock purchase plan 121 121 1 988
Tax benefit from exercuse of stock options ' ' 105
Restricted stock issuance 107 107 - -
Purchase of treasury shares ) (522} 522 {5,013)
Stock based compensation expense 1,539
Balance, March 31, 2008 27,576 528 $89 878 7,169 ${14,259) 534.838

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

20,407

Total

Comprehensive Stockholders’

lncome Equity

$99,965
2,137
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(3.625)

{408)

27

(3a5) 99,398
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CONSOI.IDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FI.OWS {in thousands)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Year Ended March 31,
2008 2007 2006

~ CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: o
Net income ' $ 533 $ 7,965 § 2137

- ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

' Debréciation and amortization 4,018 2,348 2,422
Loss on disposition of fixed assets 11 12 s
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 96 25 27
Deferred income taxes (882) 50 T
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense 1,539 1462 27
Changes in assets and liabilities: - o

Accounts receivable (942} (9.944) 413
" nventory mey O T T
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1315 {2,151) 1,484
Other assets (49) 38 34)
Accounts payable 213 (743) 191
Accrued liabilities o 466 (762) 1,665
Accrued income taxes (382) © 512 (118)
* Deferred revenue 7,187 6728 T 897
Deferredremt (78) 1,044 15
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stack options (29) (383) 49
Net cash provided by operating activities 12,900 6,201 8,705
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of specified assets from Network Physics {10,005) B —
Acquired technology T - — (366) (793}
Purchase of property and equipment (4,557) (3.529) 11,452}
Purchase of investments o 1114,799) (109,637) ” 131,940}
Proceeds from sale/maturity of investments T 156,615 72,155 56,852
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 27,254 {41,377) 22,667
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of treasury stock (5,013) (1.521) (3,625)
Payment of note payable — (150) -
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options T T T 29 383 —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 365 2,987 613
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 989 753 " 408
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (3,630) 2,452 (2,514)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 120 780 (319)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and _cé—sme_qﬁiga'léhts - T 36,644 (31,944) 28,539
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 34,766 66,710 38171
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year S 71410 $ 34,766 $ 66,710
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N OTES TO CO NSOU DATE D FI N AN (l AI. STATEM ENTS {dofiar and share amounts in thousands, except per share data}

March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. OPNET Technologies, Inc., (hereafter, the Company or
OPNET), is a provider of software products and related services for man-
aging networks and applications, The Company's software products
address application performance management, network operations,
capacity management and network research and development. The
Company sells products to corporate enterprises, government and
defense agencies, network service providers, and network equipment
manufacturers. The Company markets software products and related
services in North America primarily through a direct sales force and, to a
lesser extent, several resellers and original equipment manufacturers.
Internationally, the Company conducts research and development
through a wholly-controlled subsidiary in Ghent, Belgium and markets
software products and related services through wholly-owned sub-
sidiaries in Paris, France; Frankfurt, Germany; Slough, United Kingdom;
Sydney, Australia; and Singapore; wholly-controlled subsidiary in Ghent,
Belgium; third-party distributors; and value-added reseflers. The wholly-
owned subsidiary in Singapore was registered in August 2007. The
Company is headguartered in Bethesda, Maryland and has offices in
Cary, North Carolina; Dallas, Texas; Santa Clara, California; and Nashua,
New Hampshire.

Principles of Conselidation. The consclidated financial statements include
the results of OPNET Technologies, Inc,, its wholly-owned subsidiaries:
OPNET Technologies SAS; OPNET Technologies Limited; OPNET
Technologies, Pty. Ltd; OPNET Analysis, Inc; OPNET Technologies,
GmbH; and OPNET Technologies Asia, Pte. Ltd., and its wholly-controlled
subsidiary OPNET Technologies, BVBA. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation,

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, requires man-
agement to make estimates, judgments and assumptions. These esti-
mates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabil-
ittes and the disclosure of contingent assets and Habilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may dif-
fer from these estimates. Significant items subject to such estimates and
assumptions include revenue recognition, carrying amount and useful
lives of long-lived assets, valuation allowances for accounts receivable
and deferred tax assets, research and development tax credit, software
development costs, valuation of acquired intangible assets, valuation of
auction rate securities, or ARS, valuation of stock based compensation,
and loss contingencies, such as litigation, claims and assessmenits.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of deposits
in banks and all highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less when purchased.

Marketable Securities. The Company has determined that all of its invest-
ments in marketable securities are marketable securities to be classified
as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value,
with the unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders' equity in
the accompanying consclidated balance sheets under the caption
"Accumulated other comprehensive income” The amortized cost of debt

securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of dis-
counts to maturity. Such amortization is included in the "Interest
income” line item on the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are
included in the "Interest income” line item on the consolidated state-
ments of operations. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific
identification method. Interest and dividends on securities dlassified as
available-for-sale are included in the “Interest income” line item on the
consolidated statements of operations.

As of March 31, 2008, the Company held ARS totaling $8,800 at par value,
which are classified as available for sale securities and short-term and
long-term marketable securities on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet. Contractual maturities for these ARS extend through November
2047 with an interest rate reset date approximately every 28 days. The
ARS are primarily collateralized by United States government-backed stu-
dent ioans and were rated AAA at March 31, 2008. Historically, the carry-
ing value of ARS approximated fair value due to the frequent successful
auctions that reset the interest rates. With the liquidity issues experi-
enced in the global credit and capital markets, the Company’s ARS have
experienced failed auctions. While the Company continues to earn and
receive interest on these marketable securities at the maximurm contrac-
tual rate, we determined that the estimated fair value of these ARS no
longer approximate par value.

Since there is little or no active market data for the Company's ARS, the
Company developed its own assumptions to determine the fair value of
the securities. The Company assumed that the fair value is an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received if it sold the ARS in an
orderly transaction between market participants. The Company prepared
its fair value analysis to determine the exit price by focusing on the struc-
ture of each ARS, the collateral underlying each ARS, the cash flow char-
acteristics, and the current trading environment of such securities. The
Company also considered the valuation prepared for it by a third-party
consulting firm. With regard to the structure of each ARS, the Company
charted the cash flows pertaining to the ARS and modeled the net pres-
ent value. While the Company believes that the estimates it used are rea-
sonable, should any of these factors change, its estimate may also
change, which could affect the valuation of the ARS. In addition, the
Company performed extensive research on the collateral underlying the
ARS and the trading environment for such financial products. It is the
Company’s view that a number of factors have contributed to the recent
market disruption: real and perceived decline in value of collateralized
assets and other financial instruments; increased defaults on home mort-
gages and bankruptcies; tightening of credit among lenders; increasing
commaodity prices and the weakening of the United States dollar; and
fears of a United States recession. Based on its analysis and the
Company’s belief that the ARS are of high credit quality, the Company
determined that the fair value of the ARS at March 31, 2008 was 58,419
and recorded a temporary impairment charge of 5381. The Company
currently intends, and believes it has the ability, to hold the ARS for a peri-
od of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in the market. Accordingly,
the Company believes that the impairment is temporary. The Company
recorded the temporary impairment charge to other comprehensive
income on its cansolidated balance sheet. The Company also classified
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| 56,968 of the ARS as long-term marketable securities on its consolidat-
. ed balance sheet as of March 31, 2008.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information.

Year ended March 31,

2008 2007 2006
CASH PAID DURING THE FISCALYEAR FOR:
Income taxes © % 768 $3415 $53
NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Unrealized (loss) gain on marketable securities (381} (19) 50
Restricted stock issued 1,022 1,152 408
Accrued liability for the purchase of property

and equipment 218 852 19

Advertising Expense. Advertising expenses are expensed when incurred.
Advertising expense for fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006 was $542,
$686, and $367, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject
the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash,

marketable securities and accounts receivable. The Company generally

does not require collateral on accounts receivable, as the majority of its
customers are large, well-established companies, or government entities.

The Company maintains its cash balances at several financial institutions.

The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insures the bank accounts up

to $100. Although balances exceed that amount, the Company has nat
experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed
to any significant credit risk to cash.

Fair Value of Financial Instrements, The fair value of the Company’s cash
and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximates their respective

carrying amounts. See Marketable Securities above for a discussion of

how the Company determines fair value for its ARS.

Software Development Costs, Development costs incurred in the research
and development of new software products and enhancements to exist-
ing software products are expensed as incurred until technological fea-
sibility has been established. The Company considers technological fea-
sibility to be established when all planning, designing, coding, and test-
ing has been completed according to design specifications. After tech-
nological feasibility has been established, any additional costs are capi-
talized in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards,
or SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be
Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed Through March 31, 2008, software
development has been substantially completed concurrently with the
establishment of technological feasibility and, accordingly, no costs have
been capitalized to date.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost.
Depreciation on property and equipment is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, of five
to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets, the non-cancelable term
of the related lease, or the non-cancelable lease term plus all periods for

which executive management believes that the failure to renew the lease
imposes a penalty in an amount such that the renewal appears, at the
inception of the lease, to be reasonably assured. Repairs and mainte-
nance are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets, The Company accounts for its goodwill and intangible
assets in accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations” and
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”Its intangible assets
consist of acquired technology related to its acquisitions of a software
product for modeling voice communications in December 2003,
Altaworks in October 2004, and purchased technology the Company
purchased from RadView Software, Ltd. in December 2005, SQMworks,
Inc. in April 2006, and Network Physics, Inc. in October 2007. The
Company’s intangible assets also consist of customer relationships and
acquired workforce assets it purchased from Network Physics, Inc. relat-
ed to the purchase of specified assets of Network Physics in October
2007. The acquired and purchased technology are stated at the lower of
unamortized cost or net realizable value and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their expected useful lives of three to five years.
The Company's customer relationship and workforce assets it purchased
from Network Physics, Inc. are amortized on an accelerated depreciation
basis over their expected useful lives of four and one-half years and five
years, respectively. The Company uses the projected discounted cash
flow method in valuing its acquired technology and purchased customer
relationships using certain assumptions including revenue growth, cost
levels, present value discount rate, and working capital requirermnents, The
Company uses the lower of the amount of cash paid or the present value
of projected discounted cash flows to value purchased technology. The
workforce asset associated with the purchase of specified assets of
Network Physics, Inc. was valued on a replacement cost basis. While the
Company believes the assumptions used to value its acquired technol-
ogy related to acquisitions are reasonable, actual results will likely differ
from those assumptions. Future cash flows are subject to change for a
variety of internal and external factors. The Company will periodically
review the value of acquired technology and purchased intangible assets
for reasonableness in accordance with SFAS No, 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” If changes in the
Company’s assumptions at the time of future periodic reviews indicate
that the carrying value of its acquired technology and purchased intan-
gible assets exceeds their fair value and it determines that carrying
amounts can not be recovered, it would result in impairment losses. As
of March 31, 2008 and 2007, intangible assets totaled $8,633 and $899,
net of accumulated amortization of $5,302 and 5$3,648, respectively.
There has been no impairment as of March 31, 2008 or 2007,

Goodwill. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill is not amortized but
is tested for impairment annually during the Company’s fourth quarter
and whenever events and circumstances occur indicating that goodwill
might be impaired. The Company performed its annual impairment test
of goodwill as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 and concluded that there was
no goodwill impairment.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144 the
Company reviews its long-lived assets, including property and equip-
ment, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be fully recoverable.
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If the total of the expected undiscounted future net cash flows is less
than the carrying amount of the asset, aloss is recognized for the differ-
ence between the fair value and carrying amount of the asset. There has
been no impairment as of March 31, 2008 or 2007.

Revenue Recognition. The Company derives revenue from three primary
sources: (1) new software licenses, {2) software license updates, techni-
cal support and services, which include software license update, certain
training provided and offered on a when-and-if available basis to cus-
tomers, and technical support, and (3} professional services, which
include consulting and custom training services for customers without
a current maintenance agreement. The Company recognizes revenue
based on the provisions of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Statement of Position, or SOP No. 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recognition,”as amended by SOP No. 98-9, “Medification of SOP No. 97-
2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions,”
SOP No. 81-1, "Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and
Certain Production-Type Contracts”and the SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”

New Software License Revenue

New software license revenue represents all fees earned from granting
customers licenses to use the Cormpany’s software, and excludes revenue
derived from software license updates, which are included in software
license updates, technical support and services revenue, The Company’s
new software license revenue consists of perpetual and term license
sales of software products, For the twelve months ended March 31, 2008,
perpetual licenses represented approximately 97% of software license
revenue. New software license revenue is recognized when the following
four criteria are met: (i} persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, {ii)
delivery of the software has occurred, (iii) the software license fee is fixed
or determinable, and (iv) collectibility is probable. The Company defines
each of these four criteria as follows:

» Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists. For license arrangemenits
with end-users, it is the Company’s customary practice to have a writ-
ten software license agreement, which is signed by both the end user
and the Company, and a purchase order or equivalent. A written con-
tract can be executed based on the customer-specific format or on the
standard “shrink wrap” software master license agreement. For those
end users who have previously negotiated a software license agree-
ment with the Company, the initial software license agreement is used
as evidence of a written contract. Sales to distributors, resellers, and
value-added resellers, which the Company collectively referred to as
resellers, are primarily made outside of North America and are evi-
denced by a master reseller agreement governing the relationship,
which is signed by both the reseller and the Company, together with a
purchase order on a transaction-by-transaction basis. To further evi-
dence an arrangement, the Company’s master reselter agreement
requires that the reseller provide to the Company copies of the end
user's purchase order and executed copies of the end user’s software
master license agreements.

Delivery has occurred. Physical delivery of the Company’s software prod-
ucts to end users or resellers, which are collectively referred to as cus-

tomers, is generally considered to have occurred upen the transfer of
media containing the Company’s software products to a common car-
rier (usually FOB shipping point based on standard agreement terms).
Software products may also be delivered electronically to end users,
Electronic delivery is deemed to occur after end users have been pro-
vided with access codes that allow them to take immediate possession
of the software. If a software arrangement includes undelivered soft-
ware products or services that are essential to the functionality of deliv-
ered software products, delivery is not considered to have occurred
until these software products or services are delivered.

The fee is fixed or determinable. Itis the Company’s policy to not provide

customers the right to any adjustments or refund of any portion of their
license fees paid, acceptance provisions, cancellation privileges, or
rights of return. The Company’s norma! payment terms for its software
products and services currently range from net 30 days to net 90 days
and primarily vary based on the country in which an agreement is exe-
cuted. Payments that extend beyond the Company’s normal payment
terms from the contract date but that are due within six months are
generally deemed to be fixed or determinable based on its successful
collection history on such arrangements, and thereby satisfy the
required criteria for revenue recognition. Arrangements with payment
terms extending beyond six months are considered not to be fixed or
determinable, and revenue from such arrangements is recognized as
payments become due and payable.

-

Collectibility is probable. Collectibility is assessed on a customer-by-cus-
tomer basis. The Company typically sells to customers for whom there
is a history of successful collection. New customers are subject to a
credit review process that evaluates the customer’s ability to pay. If the
Company determines from the outset of an arrangement that col-
lectibility is not probable, revenue is recognized as cash is collected.

In instances when any of the four criteria are not met, the Company
defers recognition of software license revenue until the criteria are met.
When the sale of the software product requires the Company to make
significant enhancements, customization or modifications to the soft-
ware that are essential to its functionality, software license revenue and
consulting fees are recognized using contract accounting under SOP 81-
1.The Company estimates the percentage-of-completion, under SOP 81-
1, based on its estimate of total hours to complete the project as a per-
centage of total hours incurred and the estimated hours to complete.

The process of estimation inherent in the application of the percentage-
of-completion method of accounting for revenue is subject to judgments
and uncertainties and may affect the amounts of software license revenue
and professional services revenue under certain contracts and related
expenses reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. A
number of internal and external factors can affect the Company’s esti-
mates to complete client engagements, including skill level and experi-
ence of project managers, staff assigned to engagements, and continuity
and attrition level of professional services staff. Changes in the estimated
stage of completion of a particular project could create variability in the
Company’s revenue and results of operations if it is required to increase
or decrease previously recognized revenue related to a particular project
or if it expects to incur a loss on the project.
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Software License Update, Technical Support, and Services Revenue

Software license updates, technical support and services revenue repre-
sents fees associated with the sale of license updates, training, and tech-
nical support, all provided on a when-and-if-available basis (except for
technical support) under the Company's maintenance agreement.
Payments for software license updates, technical support and services on
initial order or on renewal are generally made in advance and are non-
refundable. License updates consist of the right to unspecified software
updates on a when-and-if-available basis and are typically entered into
in connection with the initial software license purchase. License updates,
technical support and services may be renewed upon expiration of the
term. Customers can purchase license updates separately from technical
support and services. Revenue from license updates, technical support
and services is deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance agreement.

Revenue under multipte-element arrangements, which typically include
new software licenses, consulting services, training and maintenance
agreements sold together, are allocated to each element in the arrange-
ment primarily using the residual method based upon the fair value of the
undelivered elements, which is specific to the Company vendor-specific
objective evidence of fair value, or VSOE. This means that the Company
defers revenue from the arrangement fee equivalent to the fair value of
the undelivered elements. Discounts, if any, are applied to the delivered
elements, usually software ficenses, under the residual method. For peri-
odic unspecified product updates and technical support agreements,
VSOE is based upon either the renewal rate specified in each contract or
the price charged when sold separately. For consulting services and train-
ing for customers without a current maintenance agreement, VSOE is
based upon the rates charged for these services when sold separately.

If the Company is unable to establish VSOE for an undelivered postcon-
tract customer support, or PCS, element, for example, in a two-year term
license where the license term and PCS are coterminous and no PCS
renewal period exists, all revenue is recognized ratably over the contract
period. For income statement classification purposes, the Company's
allocation methodology is based on VSOE of fair value for its profession-
al services which is determined by the price charged when sold separate-
ly, and the contractually stated renewal rates for its PCS, generally 18%
1o 21% of the license fee paid, on perpetual licenses. The Company uses
the residual method to allocate any remaining arrangement fee to new
software license revenue,

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue consists of fees from consulting services
and training for custormers without a current maintenance agreement
and is recognized as the services are performed. When the Company
enters into consulting service arrangements that include significant
maodifications to the software that are essential to the customer’s use and
the arrangement is bundled with software, revenue under the entire
arrangement is recognized under the percentage-of-completion
method. For income statement classification purposes, the Company has
developed a revenue allocation methodology for these arrangements

that is consistent with the residual method used, and described under
SOP 97-2, when services are not essential to the functionality of the soft-
ware. In these circumstances, revenue is allocated to the various ele-
ments of the arrangement based on the Company's VSOE of fair value
and the residual amount is allocated to new software license revenue,

The Company sells new software licenses, license updates, technical sup-
port and services agreements to distributors at predetermined prices.
Sales to distributors are not contingent upon resale of the software to the
end user. In most cases, the Company provides license updates, techni-
cal support and services agreements directly to distributors and the dis-
tributors provide support to the end customer, Revenue from sales to dis-
tributors is recorded at the amounts charged to the distributor and in the
same manner as new software license, license updates, technical support
and services sales sold through the Company's direct sales force.
Amounts received in advance of revenue recognition are classified as
deferred revenue.

Sales taxes and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to
governmental authorities are presented on a net basis, and as such, are
excluded from revenues,

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts receivable for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make required payments and for the limited
circumstances when the customer disputes the amounts due the
Company. The Company’s methodology for determining this allowance
requires significant estimates. In estimating the allowance, the Company
considers the age of the receivable, the creditworthiness of the customer,
the economic conditions of the customer's industry and general eco-
nomic conditions.

Income Taxes. The income tax provision includes income taxes currently
payable plus the net change during the year in deferred tax assets or lia-
bilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the differences between
the carrying value under GAAP and the tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted statutory tax rates in effect for the period in which the dif-
ferences are expected to reverse. Judgments and estimates are required
in the calculation of the deferred tax assets, valuation allowance,
research and development tax credits, and foreign tax credits.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Accounting
Standards Board, or FASB, issued FASB Interpretation, or FIN, No. 48,
*Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,”or FIN No. 48. As a result of
the implementation, the Company recognized a $653 increase to its fia-
bility for unrecognized tax benefits, The portion of the increase that was
accounted for as an adjustrnent to the beginning balance of retained
earnings on the balance sheet was $510. The total amount of gross
unrecognized tax benefits as of April 1, 2007 was 5810, Of this total, $781
{net of federal benefit on state issues) represents the amount of unrec-
ognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effec-
tive income tax rate in any future periods. At March 31, 2008, the gross
unrecognized benefit was $838, $808 of which would favorably affect the
effective income tax rate in future periods.
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Foreign Currency Transactions. Revenue and expenses denominated in for-
eign currencies are translated at the average exchange rates during the
period, Gains or losses on foreign exchange transactions are reported in
the consolidated statements of operations.

Foreign Currency Translation. The results of operations for the Company’s
international subsidiaries are translated from the designated functicnal
currencies into United States dollars using average exchange rates dur-
ing each period. Assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates
at the end of each period. Translation gains and losses are reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockhold-
ers’ equity.

Comprehensive Income. Certain revenues, expenses, gains and losses are
recognized in comprehensive income but excluded from net income.
Comprehensive income includes net income, foreign currency translation
adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities.

Earnings per Share. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net
income available to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings
per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted into
commaon shares for all periods presented.

Stock-Based Compensation. Beginning in fiscal 2007, the Company
accounts for stock-based compensation given to employees in accor-
dance with Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payment”, or SFAS No. 123R, which is a revision of SFAS No. 123
*Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No.
148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and
Disclosure;” and supersedes Accounting Principles Board, or APB Opinion
No. 25. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments and nonvested
shares (restricted stock) to employees, including grants of employee
stock options, to be valued at fair value on the date of grant, and to be
expensed over the applicable vesting period. Pro forma disclosure of the
income statement effects of share-based payments is no longer an alter-
native. SFAS No. 123R is effective for all stock-based awards granted on
or after January 1, 2006. In addition, the Company also recognized com-
pensation expense related to any awards that were not fully vested as of
the effective date.

Prior to fiscal 2007, the Company accounted for stock-based compensa-
tion given to employees using the intrinsic value method in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25, and accordingly, recognized compensation
expense for fixed stock option grants when the exercise price was less
than the quoted market price of the shares on the date of the grant. SFAS
No. 123 permitted the use of either a fair-value based method or the
intrinsic value method provided in APB No. 25 to account for employee
stock-based compensation arrangements. Companies that elected to use
the intrinsic value method provided in APB No. 25 were required to dis-
close the pro forma net income and earnings per share that would have
resulted from the use of the fair value method. We have provided below
the pro forma disclosures of the effect on net income and earnings per
share as if SFAS No. 123, as amended, had been applied in measuring
compensation expense for fiscal 2006.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and related net
income per share for fiscal 2006 had compensation cost for employee
stock-based compensation plans been determined based upon the fair
value method prescribed under SFAS No. 123, as amended:

2006
Netincome $ 2,137
Add: I
Stock-based employee compensation expense inciuded
in reported net income, net of related tax effects 15
Deduct:
Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards,
net of related tax effects (1,728)
Pro forma netincome $ 424
Basic net income per commaon share:
As reported $ 010
Proforma S 002
Diluted netincome per common share: ’
Asreported T8 00
Proforma $ 002

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements,” or SFAS No. 157. This stan-
dard clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assump-
tions that market participants would use when pricing an asset or liabil-
ity. Additionally, it establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
information used to develop those assurmptions. SFAS No. 157 is effective
for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007. The Company has not yet determined the impact that the
implementation of SFAS No. 157 will have on its results of operations or
financial condition.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” or SFAS No. 159, SFAS No.
159 permits entities to choose to measure, on an item-by-item basis,
specified financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has
been elected are required to he reported in earnings at each reporting
date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November
15, 2007, the provisions of which are required to be applied prospective-
ly. The Company has not yet determined the impact that the implemen-
tation of SFAS No. 159 will have on its results of operations or financial
condition.

In December 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), “Business
Combinations,” or SFAS No. 141(R). SFAS No. 141 {R} which replaces SFAS
No. 141 requires that the acquisition method of accounting {(which SFAS
No. 141 called the "purchase method”) be used for all business combina-
tions and for an acquirer to be identified for each business combination.
SFAS No. 141 (R ) also establishes principles and requirements for how
the acquirer: recognizes and measures in its financial statement the iden-
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tifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncentrolling
interest in the acquiree; recognizes and reasures the goodwill acquired
in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and
determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
combination. SFAS Ne. 141 (R} also requires that acquisition-related costs
be recognized separately from the business combination, SFAS No, 141
{R) will apply prospectively to business combinations for which the acqui-
sition date is after fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
The Company has not yet determined the impact that the implementa-
tion of SFAS No. 141 (R) will have on its results of operations or financial
condition,

2. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company's Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, or 2000
Plan, provides for the granting of incentive and non-qualified stock
options and restricted stock to purchase up to 5,540 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The number of shares available for issuance
will automatically increase on the first trading day of each calendar year
by an amount equal to the lesser of 3% of the shares of common stock
outstanding on the last trading day of the preceding calendar year, or an
amount determined by the Board of Directors, not to exceed an annual
increase of 1,000 shares. The Board of Directors voted not to increase the
number of shares for issuance on the first trading day of calendar year
2008, 2007, or 2006. Options are granted for terms up to ten years and
generally vest over periods ranging from one to six years from the date of
the grant. Restricted stock granted to employees under this plan gener-

 ally vests over four years from the date of the grant. Restricted stock grant-

ed to non-employees under this plan generally vests over six months from
the date of the grant. New option grants and restricted stock grants are

- granted from new shares of the Company’s common stock.

| The Company's 1993 Incentive Stock Opticn Plan, or 1993 Plan, provides

for the granting of incentive stock options to purchase up to 3,000 shares
of common stock of the Company. Options are granted for terms of up
to ten years, and generally vest over periods ranging from one to six years
from the date of the grant. The Board of Directors approved a resolution
to make no further grants for options or stock awards under the 1993
Plan upon approval of the 2000 Plan.

in March 2000, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2000
Director Stock Option Plan, which provides for the automatic annual

- granting of options to purchase stock to the Company’s directors, who

are not its employees, for up to a total of 225 shares of common stock of
the Company.

The Company’s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, provides all
eligible employees to collectively purchase up to a total of 450 shares of
its cornmon stock. An employee may authorize a payroll deduction up to
a maximum of 10% of his or her compensation during the plan period.
The purchase price for each share purchased is the lesser of 85% of the
closing price of the common stock on the first or last day of the plan peri-
od. The plan period for the ESPP ends in January and July of each year.
The expense is calculated based on the difference between the fair mar-

ket value of the shares purchased at the close of each plan period and the
discounted price paid by the employee, and that expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the plan period.

On April 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R, which revised SFAS
123 using the modified prospective method. Prior to fiscal year 2007 and
the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company followed the intrinsic value
method of accounting for its stock-based employee compensation
arrangements as defined by Accounting Principles Board Opinion, or
APB, No. 25.

SFAS 123R requires an entity to recognize an expense within its income
statement for all share-based payment arrangements, which includes
employee stock option plans, restricted stock grants, and ESPP. The
Company has elected to continue straight-line amortization of stock-
based compensation expense for the entire award over the service peri-
od since the awards have only service conditions and graded vesting.
The Company adopted SFAS 123R under the modified prospective
method. Under the modified prospective method, SFAS 123R applies to
new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after
April 1, 2006 as well as to the nonvested portion of awards outstanding
as of April 1, 2006. Stock-based compensation for awards granted prior
to April 1, 2006 is based upon the grant date fair value of such compen-
sation as determined under the pro forma provisions of SFAS No 123.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company reported tax benefits
from the exercise of stock options as an operating cash flow in the con-
solidated statement of cash flows. In the period beginning April 1, 2006,
excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock options are presented as a
cash flow from financing activity. For fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, excess
tax benefits from the exercise of stock options were $29, 5383 and 549,
respectively.

A summary of the total stock-based compensation expense for fiscal
2008, 2007 and 2006 is as follows:

2008 2007 2006

{in thousands}
Stockoptions $ 482§ 979 5§ 12
Restricted stock 611 253 15
ESPP 446 230 0 —
Total stock-based compensation § 1,539 § 1,462 s 27

A summary of the total nonvested stock-based deferred compensation
at March 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

2008 2007

fin thousands)
Restricted stock S 1,69% 51278
Stockoptions R -5 SV
ESPP 139 m
Total nonvested stock-based compensation $ 2,000 $2,033

The cost of the nonvested restricted stock, stock options, and ESPP at
March 31, 2008 are expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.3 years, 3 months and 4 months, respectively,
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Stock Options

The Company’s stock option programs are accounted for as equity awards. The expense is based on the grant-date fair value of the options granted,
and is recognized over the requisite service period.

A summary of the option transactions for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 is as follows:

Weighted Average Weighted
Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Grant Date
2008 Options Exercise Price Contract Life Intrinsic Value Fair Value
{in thousands) {Years) {in thousands}
Qutstanding at beginning of period 2,841 $10.73 — 5 1,405 5 7.51
Granted I — — - —
Exercised (60) 608 = 256 a4
Forfeited or expired {61) ' 12.37 — — 8.65
Outstanding at end of period ' 27200 10.79 3.92 1,256 7.56
Exercisable atend of period = 2,643 T s T 38 T 1.2% 761
Nonvested at end of period 77 7 9.01 6.35 — 6.01
Nonvested options expected to be exercised ' 73 - a.01 6.60 I 6.01
Weighted Average Weighted
Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Grant Date
2007 Options Exercise Price Contract Life Intrinsic Value Fair Value
{in thousands) (Years} {in thousands}
Outstanding at beginning of period 3,233 $10.37 — $ 11,362 s 7.3
Granted T30 1325 - 8 3.90
Exercised ' - (381) 784 = 2406 553
Forfeited or expired (41) 10.78 —_ 113 7.3¢
Outstanding at end of period 2,841 1073 491 9,092 7.51
Exercisable at end of period o 2,650 1080 ann 8,356 7.65
Nonvested at end of period 191 9.67 7.68 735 5.68
Weighted Average Weighted
Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate Grant Date
2006 Options Exercise Price Contract Life Intrinsic Value Fair Value
{in thousands) {Yeors) {in thousands)
Qutstanding at beginning of period 3,573 $10.10 - $ 539 $ 713
Granted 30 8.61 — 48 4.31
Exercised (180) T 34 = 1,083 235
Forfeited or expired (150) 11.59 —_ el 8.06
Qutstanding at end of period 3,233 10.37 5.57 4,135 7.31
Exercisable at end of period 2772 1078 530 3038 7.66
Nonvested at end of period 461 7.85 717 1,097 519

During fiscal 2008, 112 stock options vested with a weighted average grant date fair value of $10.20.

To estimate the grant-date fair value of its stock options, the Company ~ The Company did not grant any stock options during fiscal 2008. The
uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model  weighted average assumptions to determine the grant-date fair vatue for
astimates the per share fair value of an option onits date of grant based  stock options for fiscal 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

on the following: the option’s exercise price; the price of the underlying

2007 2006
stock on the date of grant; the estimated dividend yield; a "risk-free”inter- . .
. . . Risk-free interest rate 5.02% 4.01%
est rate; the estimated option term; and the expected volatility, For the . )

s e . Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00%
risk-free” interest rate, the Company uses a U.S. Treasury Bond dueina -— — = e i et S
number of years equal to the option’s expected term. To determine Expected life 2 years 4 years

years ed P P Volatility factor 43% 61%

expected volatility, the Company analyzes the historical volatility of its
stock over the expected term of the option.




d OPNET Technologies, Inc. 2008 ANNUAL REPCRT

Compensation cost for option grants is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period for the entire award (from the date
of grant through the period of the last separately vesting portion of the
grant). Compensation cost is recognized within the income statement in
the same expense line as the cash compensation paid to the respective
employees. SFAS 123R also requires the Company to estimate forfeitures
in calculating the expense related to stock-based compensation. The
Company has concluded that its historical forfeiture rate is the best
measure to estimate future forfeitures of granted stock options. The
impact on compensation cost due to changes in the expected forfeiture
rate will be recognized in the period that they become known. To date
there has been no change in the Company's forfeiture rate, so there has
been no impact on compensation cost,

During fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the Company received
proceeds of approximately $365, $2,987, and $612 and issued 60, 381,
and 179 shares of common stock, pursuant to employee exercises of
stock options,

On October 26, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
accelerated vesting of all unvested options that had an exercise price of
$11.75 or greater and were held by current employees, including exec-
utive officers. This accelerated vesting affected options with respect to
254 shares of the Company’s common stock that was not vested under
such options, and was effective for stock options outstanding as the close
of business on October 26, 2005.

The Board of Director’s primary purpose in accelerating vesting was to
eliminate future stock-based employee compensation expense that the
Company would have otherwise recognized in its consolidated state-
ment of operations with respect to these accelerated options once SFAS
123R became effective. Furthermore, the Board of Directors concluded
that the retention value of the unvested portion of these options was
minimal given the then-current market price for the Company’s common
stock. Because these options have exercise prices well in excess of the
Company’s then-current stock price which was $8.13 at the close of busi-
ness on October 26, 2005, as reported by the NASDAQ National market,
the Board of Directors concluded that these options would not offer suf-
ficient incentive to the employees to remain with the Company when
compared to the future compensation expense that would have been
attributable to the options. The estimated maximum future expense that
was eliminated was approximately $922.

All of these options had an exercise price of $11.75, a grant date of
October 23, 2003, and a vesting schedule that provided for pro rata annu-
al vesting for 99.8% of the grants over five years from the date of the
grant and for all cliff vesting for 0.2% of the grant in three years from the

Plan Period Starting

Plan Period Starting

Fehruary 2008
Risk-free interest rate 2.15%
Expected dividend yield T T 0.00%
Expected life 0.5 years

Volatility factor 60%

date of the grant. In the case of options held by executive officers of the
Company, vesting was accelerated with respect to 48 shares for the
Company's CEQ.

Restricted Stock

The Company's restricted stock grants are accounted for as equity
awards. The expense is based on the price of the Company’s common
stock, and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite serv-
ice period. The Company did not grant any restricted stock prior to
February 2006. The Company’s restricted stock agreements do not con-
tain any post-vesting restrictions.

A summary of the restricted stock grants is as follows:

Restricted Weighted Average
Stock Grants Grant Fair Value

2008 (in thousands}

Nenvested at beginning of period 127 $1214
Granted 108 9.86
Vested ' o @ 1Mas
Forfeited _— —
Nonvested at end of period 213 11.07
2007

Nonvested at beginning of period 43 $ 939
Granted 89 13.48
Vested (1) 1344
Forfeited 4 1167
Nonvested at end of period 127 12.14
2006

Nonvested at beginning of period — —
Granted T 43 $9.39
Vested — —
Forfeited — -
Nonvested at end of period 43 9.39

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

A total of 121, 85, and 73 shares of the Company’s common stock were
issued under the ESPP in fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
issuance of the common stock resulted in proceeds to the Company of
$989, $753, and $497, respectively.

The weighted average assumptions to determine the value for ESPP
shares for fiscal 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Plan Period Starting  Plan Period Starting

August 2007 February 2007 August 2006
4.956% 5.16% 5.18%
T000% TU000% T 000%
(.5 years 0.5 years 05 years'
49% ) 45% 8%
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3. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Amortized Cost

Gross Unrealized Gain  Gross Unrealized Loss Market Value

March 31, 2008
Municipal securities $ 6,000 $ — 5 — 5 6000
ARS 8,800 — (383) 8419
Marketable securities $ 14,800 $ — $ (381) $ 14,419
March 31, 2007
Corporate bonds and notes S 46,615 T $ — $ 46615
United States government agencies 10,000 — — 10,000
Marketable securities $ 56,615 $ —_ s — $ 56,615

As of March 31, 2008, the Company held ARS totaling 58,800 at par value,
which are classified as available for sale securities and short-term and
long-term marketable securities on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet. Contractual maturities for these ARS extend through November
2047 with an interest rate reset date approximately every 28 days. The
ARS are primarily collateralized by United States government-backed stu-
dent loans and were rated AAA at March 31, 2008. Historically, the carry-
ing value of ARS approximated fair value due to the frequent resetting of
the interest rates. With the liquidity issues experienced in the global cred-
it and capital markets, the Company’s ARS have experienced failed auc-
tions. While the Company continues to earn and receive interest on these
marketable securities at the maximum contractual rate, the estimated
fair value of these ARS no longer approximate par value,

Since there is little or no active market data for the Company's ARS the
Company developed its own assumptions to determine the fair value of
the securities. The Company assumed that the fair value is an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received if it sold the ARS in an
orderly transaction between market participants. The Company prepared
its fair value analysis to determine the exit price by focusing on the struc-
ture of each ARS, the collateral underlying each ARS, the cash flow char-
acteristics, and the current trading environment of such securities, The
Company also considered the valuation prepared for it by a third-party
valuation firm, With regard to the structure of each ARS, the Company
charted the cash flows pertaining to the ARS and modeled the net pres-
ent value, While the Company believes that the estimates it used are rea-
sonable, should any of these factors change; its estimates may also
change, which could affect the valuation of its ARS. In addition, the
Company performed extensive research on the collateral underlying the
ARS and the trading environment for such financial products. It is the

Company’s view that a number of factors have contributed to the recent
market disruption: real and perceived decline in value of collateralized
assets and other financial instruments; increased defaults on home mort-
gages and bankruptcies; tightening of credit among lenders; increasing
commodity prices and the weakening of the United States dcllar, and
fears of a United States recession. Based on its analysis and the
Company’s belief that the ARS are of high credit quality, the Company
determined that the fair vatue of the ARS at March 31, 2008 was $8,419
and recorded a temporary impairment charge of $381. The Company
believes that the impairment charge is temporary because it has the
intent and ability to hold the ARS for a period of time sufficient to allow
for arecovery in the market. Accordingly, the temporary impairment was
recorded to other comprehensive income on the Company’s consolidat-
ed balance sheet. The Company also classified $6,968 of the ARS as long-
term marketable securities on its consclidated balance sheet as of March
31, 2008.

4, Acquisition of Specified Assets of Network Physics, Inc.

On October 19, 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of speci-
fied assets of Network Physics, Inc. {Network Physics). Pursuant to the
asset purchase agreement, the purchase price totaled $10,005 and was
paid in cash from the Company's working capital. The Company account-
ed for the asset acquisition as the purchase of productive assets and fol-
lowed the guidance in SFAS 141 to perform the purchase price allocation.
The Company expensed $720 in transaction-related professional servic-
es costs during fiscal 2008 in connection with the asset acquisition. The
Company has conducted a review and analysis of the purchase price. A
summary of the assets acquired follows:

March 31,2008 Amortization Method Useful Life
{in thousands)
Current assets ] 45
Property, plant and equipment 572 Straight-line 1-3 years
Acquired technology 7,827 Straight-line S years
Customerrelationships 724 Double-declining balance 45years
Acquired workforce 837 Double-declining balance 5 years

Total consideration $ 10,005
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The assets acquired were recorded at estimated fair values as determined
by the Company’s management based on information currently available
and on current assumptions as to future operations. The Company
obtained valuation services from an independent company to assist in
the Company’s determination of the fair value of acquired intangibles
and their remaining useful lives.

The Company’s purchase of specified assets of Network Physics constitut-
ed the acquisition of productive assets and not the acquisition of a busi-
ness under Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, 98-3, “Determining
Whether a Nonrmonetary Transaction Involves Receipt of Productive
Assets or of a Business,”

5. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

At March 31, At March 31,
2008 2007
{in thousands)

Acquired and purchased technology  $ 12,374 54,547
Customer relationships 724 —
Acquired workforce 837 -
Total 13935 4,547
Less: accumulated amortization (5,302) {(3.648)
Intangible assets, net $8,633 $899

Intangible assets associated with acquired and purchased technology
consist of acquired technology related to the Company's acquisitions of
a software product for modeling voice communications in December
2003, Altaworks in October 2004, purchased technology from RadView
Software, Ltd. in December 2005, and SQMworks, Inc. in April 2006, and
the purchase of technology from Network Physics in October 2007.
Intangible assets associated with customer relationships and acquired
workforce relate to the purchase of specified assets from Network Physics
in October 2007. Acquired and purchased intangible assets resulted in
amortization expense for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 of 1,654, 5723 and
$832, respectively. Amortization expense from acquired and purchased
technology and customer relationships is included in cost of revenue in
the consolidated statements of operations. Amortization expense from
the acquired workforce asset is included in research and development
axpenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company
amortizes acquired and purchased technology on a straight-line basis
over their expected useful lives of three to five years. The customer rela-
tionships and workforce assets that the Company purchased from
Network Physics are amortized on an accelerated depreciation basis over
their expected useful lives of four and one half years and five years,
respectively. The Company currently expects future amortization
expense attributable to these intangible assets of $2,440 in the fiscal
2009, $1,850in fiscal 2010, 51,755 in fiscal 2011, $1,755 infiscal 2012, and
$833in fiscal 2013.

Goodwill is primarily derived from the Company's acquisitions of
Altaworks in October 2004, WDM NetDesign in January 2002, and
NetMaker in March 2001. The Company made no adjustment to goodwill
during fiscal 2007 or fiscal 2008.

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at March 31, 2008
and 2007:

2008 2007
Computer equipment $ 837 S 7.866
Leasehold improvements 6,699 4,395
Construction in progress 237 2,320
Purchased software 4094 2,165
Office furniture and equipment 1,656 1,456
Total o ' 21,057 18202
Less: accumulated depreciation (10,173) (9,457)
Property and equipment, net 510,884 $ 8745

In December 2006, the Company entered into an operating lease in
Bethesda, MD to increase the office space of our corporate facilities. At
March 31, 2007, the Company had $2,320 in construction in progress
associated with the build out of this space. The $237 in construction
in progress at March 31, 2008 is primarily attributable to the build out
of office space to replace its existing office space in Cary, North
Carclina. The Company entered into the new operating lease in April
2007 and moved into the space in May 2008. See Note 9 for mare
information regarding the Company’s office space.

Depreciation expense for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 was 52,364,
$1,625, and $1,590, respectively.
7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at March 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Accrued compensation and bonuses  $ 4,866 $ 4,709
Accrued accounting and tax services 970 505
Accrued legal services o 1 T 95
Accrued leasehold improvements - 724
Other 2,708 2,188
Total $ 8,555 $ 8321

8. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes for the years ended
March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, were as follows:

CURRENT PROVISION: 2008 2007 2006
Federal $ 115 5 2471 $ 397
State S 13 T 785 98
Foreign 382 349 289
Total current provision 510 3,605 784
DEFERRED PROVISION (BENEFIT):

Federal {748) (28) (297)
State T a3y T en
Foreign 3 55 49
Total deferred (beneﬁt)'provision {882) 50 {275)
Total (benefit) provision

for income taxes $(372) § 3,655 § 509
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At March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, the components of the
Company's deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities were as follows:

2008 2007
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS:
Accrued expenses $ 1,346 $ 1,146
Deferred revenue T 315 178
In-process research and development 158 178
Deferred rent 777 832
Research and development T
tax credit carryforward 1,483 1,188
Accelerated book amortization of
acquired technology 960 437
Bad debt reserve 59 51
Federal net operating loss carryforward 12,995 13,049
Foreign net operating loss carryforward 73 61
Foreign tax credit carryforward 138 —
Deferred stock based compensation 808 396
Accelerated depreciation o 128 124
Other temporary differences 29 49
Gross deferred tax assets 19,269 17,689
Less: valuation allowance o (13289)  (13,289)
Total deferred tax asset 5,980 4,400
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES:
Tax amortization of goodwill (1,961) (1.680)
Tax liabilities related to acquisitions — 44
Tax accounting for unbilled accounts receivable  (988)  (593)
Total deferred tax liabilities (2,949) 2.317)
Net deferred tax asset $ 3,031 $2,083

SFAS No. 109 "Accounting for Income Taxes,’or SFAS No. 109 requires that
the Company assess the realizability of deferred tax assets at each report-
ing period. These assessments generally consider several factors includ-
ing the reversal of existing deferred tax asset temporary differences, pro-
jected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and historical and
future book income adjusted for permanent book to tax differences. As
stated below, the Company has established a valuation allowance relat-
ed to a portion of the deferred tax asset associated with the Altaworks
transaction due to limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code. The Company believes that it is more likely than not that the
remaining net deferred tax asset of $3,031will be realized, based upon its
history of profitability, estimates of future taxable income, and the peri-
od over which the tax benefits can be realized.

The provision for income taxes for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 differs from
the amount computed by applying the statutory United States Federal
income tax rate to income before taxes as a result of the following:

_2008 2007 2006
34.0% 34.0% 34.0%

Statutory United States Federal rate

INCREASE (DECREASE]) IN TAXES RESULTING FROM:

State income taxes—net of Federal benefit  (7.0) 45 58
Nondeductible meals and entertainment 38.0 0.5 21
Nondeductible fines and penalties 36 01 —
Nondeductible stock compensation 939 01  —
Nondeductible expenses - other 43 0.1 02
Section 199 deduction (102)  (06) -
Tax credits T T T R093) 82y (315
Provision to return true-ups (permanent items)  148.9 0.5 (0.6)
Foreign tax expense (173.6) —_ 88
Taxexemptincome C@E340) (e —
Other 13.0 0.1 1.0
FIN48 - 452 - —
Ch_an—ges to estimates o T 82 05—
Forelgn tax rate dlfferentlal 145 0.2) (0.5)

Effective tax rate (230519 31.5% 19.3%

The decrease in the Company's effective tax rate in fiscal 2008 from fis-
cal 2007 was primarily the result of a decrease in book income and an
increase in permanent book to tax differences such as tax exermnpt inter-
est income. The increase in the Company’s effective taxrate in fiscal 2007
from fiscal 2006 was primarily the result of the reduced benefit of
research and development credits and adjusting projected foreign tax
credits and projected research and development tax credits to the actu-
al amount of the credits computed in conjunction with completing and
filing its fiscal 2006 tax return in Decernber of fiscal 2007.

At March 31, 2008, the Company had a United States federal research and
development tax credit carryforward of approximately $1,483 and net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $38,220, which will expire
in the years 2019 through 2024. At March 31, 2008, the Company's
German and Singapore subsidiaries had foreign net operating loss car-
ryforwards of $87 and $259, respectively. Both of the foreign net operat-
ing losses can be carried forward indefinitely under locat tax legislation.

As part of the Altaworks Corporation acquisition, the Company received
a federal net operating loss carryforward of approximately $38,775 and
a research and development credit carryforward of approximately
$1,188. The related deferred tax assets amount to $14,372. These tax
assets are subject to an annual limitation under Section 382 of the
internal Revenue Code. Because of the limitation imposed, management
believes it is more likely than not that a portion of the assets will not be
realized and has placed a valuation allowance of $13,289 against that
portion.

AtMarch 31, 2008, the Company had cumulative undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries, for which no United States income or foreign
withholding taxes have been recorded, of approximately $1,943, which
have been reinvested indefinitely. Determination of the amount of unrec-
ognized deferred tax liability with respect to such earnings is not practi-
cable. The additional taxes on the earnings of foreign subsidiaries, if
remitted, would be partially offset by United States tax credits for foreign
taxes already paid.
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Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN No. 48. As a result of the
implementation, the Company recognized a $653 increase to its liabili-
ty for unrecognized tax benefits, The portion of the increase that was
accounted for as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained
earnings on the balance sheet was $510. The total amount of gross
unrecognized tax benefits as of April 1, 2007 was $810. Of this total, $781
{net of federal benefit on state issues} represents the amount of unrec-
ognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effec-
tive income tax rate in any future periods. At March 31, 2008, the gross
unrecognized benefit was $838, $808 of which would favorably affect the
effective income tax rate in future periods. A reconciliation of the begin-
ning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits follows:

Unrecognized tax benefits at April 1, 2007 5 810
Gross increases — tax positions in prior period —
Gross decreases - tax positions in prior period (80}

Gross increases - current period tax positions 79
Settlements —
Lapse of statute of limitations —_—

Foreign currency translation adjustment 29

$ 838

Unrecognized tax benefits at March 31, 2068 -

The following table summarizes the tax years that are either currently
under audit or remain open under the statute of limitations and are sub-
ject to examination by the tax authorities in the most significant jurisdic-
tions that the Company operates:

Australia FY03 - FY08
Belgium FY04 - FY08
France i FY04 - FY08
Germany - FYO4-FY08
United Kingdom FY07 - FY08
United State ) FY02 - FY03
United States o N FYO5-FY08
Maryland FY04 - FY08
New York FYO7 - FY08

The Company’s continuing practice is to recognize interest, if any, relat-
ed to income tax matters in interest expense in its consolidated state-
ment of operations and penalties as part of generaf and administrative
expense in its consolidated statement of operations. In conjunction with
the adoption of FIN 48, the Company recognized $20 and $8 for the pay-
ment of interest and penalties, respectively, at April 1, 2007 which is
included in accrued interest on the balance sheet. During fiscal 2008, the
Company recognized $6 in potential interest expense associated with
uncertain tax positions. The total accrued interest and accrued penalties
related to uncertain tax positions for fiscal 2008 was $30 and $2, respec-
tively.

The Company believes it is reasonably possible that significant changes
in the liability for uncertain tax positions will occur in the next twelve

-

months as a result of final decisions related to the voluntary payments of
its state and local income taxes and lapse of statute of limitations. In the
aggregate, the Company believes the liability for uncertain tax positions
could decrease by $235 in the next twelve months.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company's corporate office and principal facility is located in
Bethesda, Maryland and consists of approximately 82,000 square feet of
office space held under two leases. The lease for 60,000 square feet
expires on January 31, 2011, exclusive of renewal options. The lease pro-
vides for two five-year renewal options. The rent is subject to escalation
based upon a consumer price index adjustment of up to 3% each year.
The lease also requires the Company to maintain a security deposit of
approximately $2,122 in the form of a bank letter of credit, as discussed
in Note 10, which is subject to annual reductions based upon meeting
certain minimum financial requirements. The lease for 22,000 square feet
expires on January 31, 2016, exclusive of renewal options. The lease pro-
vides for one five-year renewal options. The rent is subject to escalation
based upon a consumer price index adjustment of up to 3% each year.
The lease also requires the Company to maintain a security deposit of
approximately 569 in the form of a bank letter of credit, as discussed in
Note 10, which is subject to annual reductions based upon meeting cer-

-tain minimum financial requirements,

In addition, the Company leases office space under non-cancelable oper-
ating leases. The leases for office space contain escalation clauses that
provide for increased rentals based primarily on increases in real estate
taxes, operating expenses, or the average consumer price index. Total
rent expense under all {eases for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $4,495,
$3,821, and $3,437, respectively. At March 31, 2008, future minimum
lease payments required under non-cancelable leases were as follows:

Year ending March 31,

2009 5 5079

2010 5,155
w0 ) 4788
2012 ST T 2me
2013 1,963
Thereafter 10,804

Total minimum lease payments $ 29,963

The Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, is examining the Company's feder-
al corporate income tax returns for fiscal 2002 and 2003. While the IRS
examination of the Company’s returns is not final at this time, the
Company has reached an agreement with respect to the amount of
research and development tax credits that it claimed on its tax returns for
those years. As a result of this agreement, the Company is reducing the
amount of the research and development tax credits claimed on its tax
returns for fiscal 2002 and 2003 by approximately $350. The IRS also
asserted tax deficiencies related to the timing of revenue reported on the
Company’s tax returns for fiscal 2002 and 2003, The IRS has asserted that
revenue associated with certain contracts reported on the Company's fis-
cal year 2003 tax return, should have been included in taxable income on
its tax return for the fiscal 2002, The Company does not believe any tax



E—EL] OPNET Technologies, Inc. 2008 ANNUAL REPORT

deficiencies related to the timing of reporting revenue will be material to
the financial statements.

The Company accounts for guarantees in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others’, or "Interpretation No. 45"
Interpretation No. 45 elaborates on the disclosures required in financial
statements concerning obligations under certain guarantees. It also clar-
ifies the requirements related to the recognition of liabilities by a guar-
antor at the inception of certain guarantees. The provisions related to rec-
ognizing a liability atinception of the guarantee do not apply to product
warranties or indemnification provisions in the Company's software
license agreements.

Urider the terms of substantially all of the Company’s license agreerents,
it has agreed to defend and pay any final judgment against its customers
arising from claims against such customers that the Company’s software
products infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party. To date:
i} the Company has not received any notice that any customer is subject
to an infringement claim arising from the use of its software products, ii)
the Company has not received any request to defend any customers from
infringement claims arising from the use of its software products, and iii)
the Company has not paid any final judgment on behalf of any customer
related to an infringement claim arising from the use of its software prod-
ucts. Because the outcome of infringement disputes are related to the
specific facts in each case, and given the lack of previous or current indem-
nification claims, the Company cannot estimate the maximum amount of
potential future payments, if any, related to its indemnification provisions.
However, the Company reasonably believes these indemnification provi-
sions will not have a material adverse effect onits operating performance
or financial condition. As of March 31, 2008, the Company has not record-
ed any liabilities related to these indemnifications.

The Company's standard license agreement includes a warranty provi-
sion for software products. The Company generally warrants for the first
ninety days after delivery that the software shall operate substantially as
stated in the then current documentation provided that the software is
used in a supported computer system. The Company provides for the
estimated cost of product warranties based on specific warranty claims,
provided that it is probable that a liability exists and provided the
amount can be reasonably estimated. To date, the Company has not had
any material costs associated with these warranties.

The Company is involved in other claims and legal proceedings arising
from its normal operations. The Company does not expect these matters,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on its financial
condition, resuits of operations, or cash flows.

10. Credit Agreements and Notes Payable

Effective June 10, 2002, the Company entered into a credit facility with
a commercial bank. The credit facility permits the borrowing of funds for
general corporate purposes and the issuance of letters of creditup toa
maximum of $10,000 in the aggregate. Borrowings under the credit facil-
ity are limited to 80% of eligible accounts receivable. The Company used
the facility to issue an irrevocable letter of credit for approximately $2,122
to satisfy the security deposit requirements for its corporate office lease.
Upon a default, as defined in the corporate office lease agreement, and
written notice from the landlord to the Company, the landlord has the
right to draw upon the letter of credit in whole or in part. Interest is
payable monthly, based on LIBOR plus the applicable margin ranging
from 2% to 2.5% as stated in the loan agreement. The credit facility
includes a fee in the amount of 0.25% per annum on the unused portion
of the credit facility. The credit facility is collateralized by the Company’s
accounts receivable. The loan agreement contains customary affirmative
and negative covenants including a restriction on the payment of divi-
dends, The Company was in compliance with all affirmative and negative
covenants as of March 31, 2008. Effective June 10, 2007, the credit facil-
ity was renewed for $2,000 and is due to expire on June 30, 2008. As of
March 31, 2008, we had available borrowings of $249 under the credit
facility. We plan to renew the credit facility in fiscal 2009,

11. Employee Benefit Plan

Effective August 1, 1993, the Company established a 401(k} retirement
plan, or the Plan covering all eligible employees, as defined. Eligible
employees who are at least 21 years old may participate. Under the terms
of the Plan, participants may defer a portion of their salaries as employ-
ee contributions. The Company makes matching contributions and may
make discretionary and extra contributions. Employee contributions and
extra contributions made by the Company are 100% vested immediate-
ly. In general, the Company’s matching and discretionary contributions
vest ratably over a five-year period. The Company’s expense under this
Plan for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 was 51,259, 51,056, and $890, respec-
tively.
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12, Earnings per Share

i The following is a reconciliation of the amounts used in calculating basic
and diluted net income per common share for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
NET INCOME {NUMERATOR):
Basic and diluted net income $7533  §7965 52137
SHARES (DENOMINATOR):
Weighted average shares - o
outstanding (basic) 20,342 20358 20,374
Plus: h ) )
Effect of other dilutive
securities — options 254 832 229
Effect of other dilutive - o ) )
securities — restricted stock 25 i6 1
Weighted average shares
outstanding (diluted) 20,621 21,206 20,604

NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE:

Basic $003 S 039 $ 010

' Diluted N $003 S 038 § 010

_The weighted average shares outstanding {diluted} is not impacted dur-
ing any period where the exercise price of a stock option is greater than

the average market price. The Company had options for the purchase of

- 1,826,470 and 2,367 common shares that were excluded from the dilut-
ed average shares outstanding for the fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 respec-
tively, because their effect was anti-dilutive.

13. Treasury Stock

" On January 31, 2005, the Company announced that the Board of Directors

had authorized the repurchase of up to 1,000 shares of the Company's
~ common stock from time to time on the open market or in privately nego-
' tiated transactions. On February 4, 2008, the Company announced that the

Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of an additional 1,000

shares of the Company's common stock under the stock repurchase pro-

~ gram. This stock repurchase program does not have a specified termina-

tion date. Any repurchased shares will be available for use in connection
with the Company’s stock plans or other corporate purposes. The
Company expended $5,013, 51,521 and $3,625 to purchase 522, 104 and
409 shares during fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, at an average
price of $9.61, 514.62 and $8.84. Restricted stock shares withheld from
employees to satisfy the minimum statutory withholding obligations with

respect to the income recognized by these employees upon the vesting of

their restricted stock shares during the year are included in these totals. As
of March 31, 2008, the Company had repurchased 1,036 shares of common
stock under the stock repurchase program.

14. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income includes net income, foreign currency transla-
tion adjustments, and net unrealized (losses)/gains on marketable secu-
rities. The components of comprehensive income for fiscal 2008, 2007,
and 2006, net of tax, are as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Net income $ 533 5 7965 § 2,137
Foreign currency ) ' ' 7
translation adjustments ' 147 758 {315)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on

marketable securities {381) (19} 50
Total comprehensive income $299 $8,704 § 1,872

15.Business Segment and Geographic Area Information

The Company operates in one industry segment, the development and
sale of computer software programs and related services. The Chief
Operating Officer evaluates the performance of the Company using one
industry segment. For the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
revenue from transactions with United States government agencies was
approximately 41%, 43%, and 43% of total revenue, respectively. No sin-
gle customer accounted for 10% or more of revenue for fiscal 2008, 2007
or 2006. In addition, there was no country, with the exception of the
United States, where aggregate sales accounted for 10% or more of total
revenue. The Company’s assets were primarily held in the United States
for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Revenue by geographic destination and as a percentage of total revenue
for fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

2008 2007 2006

GEQOGRAPHIC AREA BY DESTINATION
United States $ 80,840 % 75071 $ 59,574
International 20,506 20,059 16,541
$101,346 $95,130 $76,115

GEOGRAPHIC AREA BY DESTINATION

United States 79.8% 78.9% 78.3%
International 20.2 21 1.7
100.0% 100.0%  100.0%
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16. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table sets forth activity in our valuation accounts:

Balance at Beginning Chargesto Balance at
of Period Expenses Other Deductions" End of Period
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE RESERVE ACCOUNT: ’
Year ended March 31, 2008 S 133 $ 9 s — $ (79) $ 154
Year ended March 31, 2007 ' B $ 140 B 5 25 §— 5 (32 $ 133
Year ended March 31,2006 s 180 s 27 5— s6en 5 140
DEFERRED TAX VALUATION ACCOUNT:
Yearended March 31,2008  $13.289 Sy = s5— [ $13,289
Year ended March 31, 2007 $ 13,289 $ - s — 5 — $13,289
Year ended March 31,2006 i $13289 $ — 5 — 5 — $13,289
{1} Deductions represent write-offs of receivables previously reserved and adjustments to reflect accounts receivable at net realizable value.
17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Year Ended March 31, 2008 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Reverue o ) $23.332 $24991 $26017  $27,006
Gross profit 17,474 19,026 19,09 19,566
{Loss) income from operations B ' . (59} 211 (2,346) (1,224)
Netincome (loss) B T T Tea7 1301 {1,312) (103)
Basic net income (loss) per common share $ 003 $ 0.06 S (0.06) $ (0.00}
Diluted net income (loss) per common share $ 003 $ 0.06 $ (0.06) $ {0.00)
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding o 20516 20409 20,273 20,200
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 21,180 20,926 20,273 20,200
Year Ended March 31, 2007 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
Revenue ’ $22,632 $23,617 $24,522 $24,359
Gross profit ' 17.867 18,693 19,358 18,683
Income from operations B ) I - T R W =" 2733 1437
Net income ' 1,635 1,727 3,024 1,579
Basic net income per common share ' $ 008 $ 009 $ 015 $ 0.07
Diluted net income per common share — o $ 008 T s$008 $015 %5007 -
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 20,190 20,266 20,365 20,487
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 20,664 21,119 21,387 21,337
18. Interest and Other Income, Net
The components of interest and other income, net for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 are as follows:
2008 2007 2006
Interest income $ 3,646 5 3825 5 2,748
Interest expense (31) 26) (56}
Other income - T T e 38 g
Other expense {36) (3} (30}
Interest and other income, net $3,579 $3,834 $ 2,680
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be hald onTuesday. Septerber 9, 2008 at
OPNET Corporate Headquarters, 7255 Woodmont Avenue, Bethesda, Maryland 20814,

Form 10-K

A copy of the Company's Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission
on Farm 10-X is avzilable without charge upon request by contacting OPNET Investor
Relations or by visiting our Web site.

Market Information

Cur common stock trades on the Nasdag National Market under the symbol "OPNT”
The following table sets forth, on a per share basis, for the indicated periods, the high
and low sate prices of our common stock as reported by the Nasdagq National Market.

Quarierly Common Stock-Price for the Years Ended March 31

2008 2007
Quarter ended High Low High Low
June 30 $ 1417 5990 $ 15.00 51007
September 30 1492 941 14.29 1074
December 31 12.89 807 1682 1286
March 3t 9.50 752 1598 1286

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our commen stock or other
securities. Our 1pan agreement with a commercial bank prohibits the payment of
dividends, We currently intend 1o retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the
operation of our business, and therefore, do not anticipate paying cash dividends in
the foreseeable future,

Comparative Stock Performance

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Common
Stock of the Company from March 31, 2003 to March 31, 2008 with the cumulative total
return of (i) the NASDAQ National Market and (i} the NASDAQ Computer & Data
Processing Index. The graph assumes the investment of $100.00 on March 31,2003 in
the Company’s Commen Stock, the NASDAQ National Market, and the NASDAQ
Computer & Data Processing Index, and in each case assumes that any dividends are
reinvested,

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return*
Amang CPNET Technologies, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index, and The NASDAQ
Computer & Data Processing Index

300

250

/03 3/04 305 3106 . 307 3/08

[l oPET Technolagies, Inc. D NASDAQ Composite . NASDAG Computer & Data Processing

5100 invested on 3/31/03 Instock of Index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending March 31.
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